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Message from the Board Chair

Fiscal 2009/10 has been a year of significant change, transition and accom-
plishment for Columbia Power Corporation. Notwithstanding the events the 
company has gone through, we are finishing the year $1.7 million above the 
projected target. 

On behalf of our joint venture partner—Columbia Basin Trust—Columbia 
Power oversees the operations and management of the Brilliant Dam 
and Generating Station, the Arrow Lakes Generating Station, the 
Brilliant Expansion Generating Station and the Brilliant Terminal Station. 

The three generating facilities continue to perform at a high level, with earnings from these assets main-
taining their upward trend. 

Columbia Power also manages the development activities of the Waneta Expansion Project on behalf of 
the Joint Venture ("the Partners") which owns all of the development assets of the Waneta Expansion. 
Development activities for the Waneta Expansion during 2009/10 included several significant events. On 
May 21, 2009, the Partners announced that SNC-Lavalin Inc. was the initial preferred proponent for the 
design and construction of the Waneta Expansion Project.  Then, on November 4, 2009, the Partners 
announced that they would not be proceeding with the Waneta Expansion Project as it was currently 
structured.

In January 2010, Columbia Power was directed by the Province, in its annual Shareholder’s Letter of 
Expectations ("the Letter") to explore alternate design, sales, and partnership structures for the Waneta 
Expansion. The Letter defines primary responsibilities and sets out the expectations of government 
and the Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources. 

The Partners are actively exploring other avenues and identifying other potential partners to improve 
the viability of the project and are currently awaiting the results of a review by the Province of a pro-
posed joint investment arrangement between the Partners and an unrelated third party. This review 
is expected to be completed by June 30, 2010. The Partners are hopeful that in the coming months 
the project can be moved to a point where it can proceed. Restructuring the Project and its successful 
conclusion remains the central effort for Columbia Power.

Fiscal 2009/10 was particularly challenging for Columbia Power management and staff. Key manage-
ment employees, including Barry Chuddy, President and CEO, Amy Stevenson, Vice-President of 
Operations, Environment, Health and Safety Affairs, and Gordon Gooding, Chief Financial Officer, left the 
company. Several employees also left Columbia Power for other opportunities, or retired.  Due to fiscal 
restraint, most positions have not been refilled. Management is working diligently to address these 
matters.

After Mr. Chuddy’s departure from the company, the role of President and CEO was held jointly, on an 
interim basis, by Victor Jmaeff, Vice-President of Sales and Development and Giulio Ambrosone, Vice-
President of Project Implementation. I wish to thank them both for their significant contributions to 
Columbia Power.  

On February 1, 2010, Gerry Duffy, a member of Columbia Power’s board of directors, was appointed 
special advisor to the board of directors and assumed leadership of the executive  team.  An important 
part of Mr. Duffy’s role is to locate a new CEO for Columbia Power and to renew the company’s mandate 
with the province following the decision on the Waneta Expansion.
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I wish to welcome Lillian White to the board of directors of Columbia Power. Ms. White joined 
Columbia Power in early 2009 and is chairing the Finance and Audit Committee. Her experience and 
knowledge will be of great benefit to the corporation.

On March 30, 2010, as part of a scheduled test during the Brilliant Expansion Generating Station’s 
annual planned outage, Columbia Power’s operations department conducted a simulated emergency 
shut-down of the facility. The test was a complete success and is an example of the capability of 
Columbia Power in planning and carrying out a complex operation.  

Managing species at risk issues at the Brilliant Expansion Generating Station, due to the lack of an 
appropriate federal regulatory framework, was a key issue for 2009 with Columbia Power heavily 
involved in developing leading-edge mitigation practices and working on the policy development front 
at the national level. Brilliant Expansion continues to enjoy economic benefit from the ecoEnergy grant, 
receiving $4.2 million this past year, of which CPC’s share was $2.1 million. 

Columbia Power has made application to have its office renovations reviewed for LEED (Leadership in 
Energy and Environmental Design) certification.  The application remains in queue, awaiting evaluation 
and we will report on our progress in obtaining certification in the next annual report.

The key issues to the corporation’s development activities include the costs of construction, the avail-
ability and cost of qualified labour, the price of power, the cost of financing and arriving at a power price 
that is attractive to potential purchasers. The corporation’s short term goals include: continuing to 
advance development of the Waneta Expansion, ensuring all management activities are efficient 
and cost-effective, continuing to optimize existing assets, and developing a strategic plan to define 
future activities.

The 2009/10 Columbia Power Corporation annual report was prepared under my direction in accordance 
with the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and BC Reporting Principles. I am accountable for the 
contents of the report, including what has been included in the report and how it has been reported.  

The information presented reflects the actual performance of Columbia Power Corporation for the twelve 
months ended March 31, 2010 in relation to the February 2009 service plan and September 2009 service 
plan update.  

I am responsible for ensuring internal controls are in place so that information is measured and 
reported accurately and in a timely fashion.  All significant assumptions, policy decisions, events and 
identified risks, as of May 14, 2010, have been considered in preparing the report.  The report contains 
estimates and interpretive information that represent the best judgment of management.  Any changes 
in mandate direction, goals, strategies, measures or targets made since the September 2009 service plan 
update were released and any significant limitations in the reliability of data are identified in the report.   

On behalf of the board of directors of Columbia Power Corporation, I commend staff and management for 
enduring the many changes and challenges they have seen over the past year and I encourage them to 
continue their excellent work.

Lee Doney, Chair
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Organizational Overview

Columbia Power Corporation is a Crown corporation wholly owned and controlled by the Province 
of British Columbia, existing under the Business Corporations Act and reporting to the Minister of Energy, 
Mines and Petroleum Resources. Under the terms of its amended Agency Agreement with the Province, 
Columbia Power is an agent of the Province and the Treasury Board has the ultimate authority for new power 
project investment and significant financial restructuring. Established in 1994, Columbia Power’s mission is 
to efficiently develop and operate commercially viable, environmentally sound and safe power project 
investments for the benefit of the Province and the residents of the Columbia Basin. In making power 
project investments, Columbia Power’s goal is to support the employment, economic development and 
resource management objectives of the Province, within the constraints of a commercial enterprise.

Columbia Power undertakes power projects through joint ventures with subsidiaries of Columbia Basin 
Trust and manages all of the joint ventures. Columbia Power is a small organization based in Castlegar.  
Columbia Power focuses on asset management activities while engaging private-sector firms to provide 
construction, plant operation and specialist consulting services. Through its joint ventures, Columbia Power 
is one of the larger producers of electricity in British Columbia.

Columbia Power oversees the operations of the Brilliant Dam and Generating Station, the Arrow Lakes 
Generating Station, the Brilliant Expansion Generating Station and the Brilliant Terminal Station, as well as 
the development activities of the Waneta Expansion Project. The Waneta Expansion received its provincial 
Environmental Assessment Certificate on October 13, 2007. A provincial water license was issued on January 
22, 2008.

Most of the power generated at the current operating projects (Arrow Lakes, Brilliant and Brilliant Expansion) 
is committed under long-term sales contracts to two utilities, FortisBC Inc. (FortisBC) and BC Hydro. A 
short-term sale to Powerex, a subsidiary of BC Hydro, is also in place.

Returns from Columbia Power’s 50% share of the power projects are available to be distributed to the 
Province. 

Sustainability Report

Columbia Power is committed to sustainable development, which has been defined by the Canadian 
Electricity Association as "pursuing innovative business strategies and activities that meet the needs of 
members, stakeholders and the communities in which we operate today, while protecting and enhancing 
the human and natural resources that will be needed in the future."  Sustainable development has been a key 
aspect of Columbia Power’s project development.

Columbia Power’s (CPC) commitment to sustainability principles during 2009/10 resulted in the following:

Environment - There was one hydraulic oil spill to the Columbia River from the Arrow Lakes Generating  
Station. A quick response limited the oil release to fewer than 200 litres. The leak resulted when debris 
impacted an intake gate on one of the units. No downstream impacts were observed. A report was 
completed and preventative measures have been put into place as a result of the spill.
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Stewardship and Biodiversity - CPC has been working very closely with Fisheries and Oceans Canada 
to find a solution to the risk of harm to white sturgeon associated with the operation of our hydroelec-
tric generating facilities and has taken a lead role in the Species at Risk Act (SARA) joint working group. 
 
CPC furthered the development of the Arrow Lakes and Brilliant lands reclamation areas includ-
ing the planting of 1,500 trees, seeding of disturbed areas and control of invasive plant species. 

Health and Safety - CPC had no major safety incidents in 2009 and continues to work towards final-
izing the combined Environment, Health and Safety Management System.  The system is consistent 
with ISO 18001 and 14001 standards. 

Communications and Engagement - CPC maintains support for its current and future projects 
through on-going stakeholder engagement activities. In 2009, these included: 
  Regular meetings with municipal and regional government representatives to provide up- 
                dates on project development; 
  Working closely with municipal and district government leaders on regional initiatives    
               such as  the 2009 Union of BC Municipalities Conference and the 2010 Kootenay/Boundary  
                  Olympic display; 
  Re-engaging the Arrow Lakes Generating Station (ALGS) Community Impact Management  
            Committee through a series of meetings to drive the ALGS reclamation project; 
  Working with residents of Glade, BC, a community impacted by the development of the Brilliant  
          Expansion Project, to resolve an on-going issue related to ferry access to their community; 
  Developing and installing recreational resources for the community of Glade in coordination  
         with community leaders—these include a dock, boat launch, picnic area and historical  
         interpretive signage for the community; 
  Worked with local and regional government representatives on the contentious issue  of  
          a ccess road closure over BC Hydro’s Hugh Keenleyside dam and CPC’s Arrow Lakes Generating  
         Station. 

Climate Change - CPC’s hydroelectric generation facilities do not emit greenhouse gases; CPC  
now uses one hundred percent post-consumer paper for all copy and print paper. Seventy-
seven percent of all CPC staff have received training to increase awareness of society’s car-
bon footprint and how it pertains to climate change, as well as CPC’s Carbon Neutral Plan. 

Aboriginal Relations - CPC organized and hosted the first-ever visit to the Castlegar area  
by three Chiefs of the Okanagan Nation Alliance, which included a tour of CPC’s facilities.  
CPC staff have on-going liasion with First Nations representatives and actively participate in  
a number of First Nations-organized activities including the annual Okanagan Nation Sal- 
mon Feast, Shuswap Nation sturgeon pow wow, Ktunaxa golf tournament and various other 
events. CPC also has a dedicated sponsorship funding program to support a variety of 
activities including business development, youth education and training, and cultural events. 

Economic Benefits - Fifty percent of the net income from the CPC-managed joint venture projects  
goes to the Columbia Basin Trust to fund their regional benefits programs; CPC also has its own  
Community Sponsorship Funding Program, including a $500 bursary to each of the 19 
secondary schools in the Columbia Basin, as well as a $2,500 scholarship to each of the three 
post-secondary institutions in the Basin.       
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Mandate, Vision and Values

The mandate, vision and values of Columbia Power are presented below.

Mandate
Develop core hydroelectric projects and other qualifying generation, transmission and 
distribution projects in the Columbia Basin.

Earn an acceptable rate of return given the risks.

Finance power projects using the government’s equity contributions, retained earnings and 
limited-recourse project debt, without government debt guarantees.

Promote employment, economic development and new industry through environmentally- 
sound, cost-competitive power project investment.

•

•

•

•

Vision
To be a respected, continually improving company that maximizes shareholder value by 
developing and operating power projects in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner, achieving the development objectives of the Province and the Columbia Basin.

Values
Effi  ciency in the use of scarce resources.

Good value for money for the Province and the Columbia Basin.

Socially responsible decision-making—to the extent possible—guided by the market.

Proactive and economically responsible environmental management.

Respectful employment practices.

•

•

•

•

•
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Business Model

Design
The design component involves the assessment of overall engineering, financial, economic and environ-
mental feasibility. This includes the base engineering design, capital cost estimates, market price forecasts, 
stakeholder consultations, regulatory submissions and solicitation of contractor interest. It concludes with 
an initial Go / No-Go feasibility decision followed by a design-build competition. This component is carried 
out by Columbia Power with its consultants.

Evaluate
In this component, all of the design-build bids are assessed, along with power sales agreements and 
environmental permits, to determine if a project can proceed and if a design-build contract can and 
should be executed. Columbia Power, on behalf of the joint venture, is responsible for this evaluation and 
due diligence.

Build
With the signing of a design-build contract, many responsibilities are transferred to the design-build con-
tractor. Columbia Power, however, engages an "Owner’s Consultant" to ensure compliance with contract 
terms, including monitoring of quality control and environmental permit requirements in addition to its 
own resources, which oversee all activities at the highest level.

Operate
Once a project has been completed and commissioned, operations and power sales begin and further due 
diligence is undertaken to ensure all deficiencies are resolved and the facility is "fit for purpose." 
Columbia Power has in-house engineers knowledgeable in plant operations and maintenance, but to date, 
has chosen to engage FortisBC or a related entity ("Fortis") to operate and maintain the joint venture’s plants, 
with oversight by Columbia Power. Fortis has its own assets in the region and there is economy to Columbia 
Power in utilizing their services. Fortis is responsible for a number of operational and maintenance activities. 

Manage
Columbia Power, the manager for the joint ventures, is responsible for all activities in the business model 
components: negotiating and administering agreements; raising financing; paying lenders; paying taxes; 
complying with approvals; employing qualified staff and advisors; and, managing all finance, operations, 
oversight activities and associated risks.

The Columbia Power business model is shown in Figure 1 on the following page.

In carrying out its business model, CPC has two roles:

It is an owner with a 50 percent equity interest, along with Columbia Basin Trust, in joint venture 
power projects and project(s) in development. Power projects are owned in separate corporations 
for the purpose of securing limited-recourse commercial project financing without provincial debt 
guarantees. This structure will be reviewed as part of the corporate re-financing necessary to secure 
adequate funding to finance the Waneta Expansion.

It is the manager for the joint ventures including those in operation, construction and development. 
The corporate structure of the joint ventures is shown in Figure 2.
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CPC

Evaluate

Key 
Activities

Determine fi nancial/
     technical feasibility;

Communicate with 
     community and First Nations;

Environmental and other 
     assessments.

•

•

•

Assess competing 
     proposals from 
     contractors;

Assess feasibility;
Negotiate contracts.

•

•
•

Key 
Products

Initial Plans:
Financial;
Marketing;
Engineering;
Community/First Nations;
Environmental;
Requests for proposals.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Updated Plans:
Financial;
Marketing;
Engineering;
Community/First Nations;
Environmental;
Updated Go/No-Go decision.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Outcomes
Initial Go/No-Go decision;
Balance achieved 

     between capital and 
     dividend requirements.

•
• Signed contracts;

Clear expectations;
Risks assessed, allocated.

•
•
•

Results

CPC

Design

Responsibility

Business
Components

Figure 1.  Columbia Power Corporation (CPC) Business Model

Value for money/profi tability

Stakeholder support

Environment protected

Risks managed

Motivated, skilled staff 

Regulatory compliance
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Oversee construction;
Carry out construction;
Follow up on commitments;
Related sub-projects.

•
•
•
•

Conduct:
Maintenance;
Upgrades;
Dispatch.

•
•
•

Compliance;
Studies and reports;
Stakeholder 

     communications.

•
•
•

Generation;
Power sales.

•
•

Budgets;
Expenditures;
Debt issues;
Regulatory compliance;
Business development.

•
•
•
•
•

Projects completed to 
     specifi cations;

Construction 
     employment/income.

•

•
Effi  cient, reliable plant 

     operations;
Cash fl ow.

•

•

Cost-eff ective, reliable 
     operations;

Dividends;
Shareholder value;
Joint venture value;
On-going environmental 

     benefi ts.

•

•
•
•
•

Manage:
Financial and regulatory 

     concerns;
Contract administration;
Human resources;
Joint venture interface.

•

•
•
•

Value for money/profi tability

Stakeholder support

Environment protected

Risks managed

Motivated, skilled staff 

Regulatory compliance

Contractors

Build

Contractors

Operate

CPC

Manage
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Key Relationships

The joint venture power project companies owned by Columbia Power and Columbia Basin Trust are 
wholesalers of power, primarily under long-term purchase agreements with regulated utilities.  A 12-year 
power purchase agreement (expiring in 2015) is in place with BC Hydro for the output of the Arrow Lakes 
Generating Station; a 60-year power purchase agreement (expiring in 2056) is in place with FortisBC for 
most of the output of the Brilliant Generating Station; and two 20-year purchase agreements (expir-
ing in 2027 and 2030) are in place with BC Hydro and Powerex for the output of the Brilliant Expansion.

The joint venture hydroelectric projects have power "entitlement agreements" with BC Hydro.  These 
agreements provide the power projects with predetermined monthly energy and capacity quantities 
based on historic stream flows and the flow-versus-output characteristics of each plant. The entitlement 
agreements remove most hydrology risk, making the projects more attractive to power purchasers and 
lenders. BC Hydro controls the overall hydroelectric system in the Columbia-Kootenay region, allowing it 
to optimize power production for the system as a whole and ensure compliance with various Canada/US 
agreements. BC Hydro is also compensated for the assumption of hydrology risk by being entitled to keep 
a small share of the average annual energy produced. BC Hydro has similar arrangements with FortisBC 
and Teck.

The Arrow Lakes Generating Station was constructed by Peter Kiewit Sons Co. under a fixed-price, design-
build contract.

The Brilliant Expansion was constructed by the Brilliant Expansion Consortium, composed of Skanska-Chant 
and SNC-Lavalin Inc., under a fixed-price, design-build contract. Commercial operation was achieved in 
September 2007. Final acceptance will occur after a number of precedent conditions have been achieved, 
including achievement of the performance guarantees. The contractual milestone date for final accep-
tance is September 7, 2010.

The Brilliant Dam and Generating Station, the Brilliant Terminal Station, the Arrow Lakes Generating 
Station and the Brilliant Expansion Generating Station are operated and maintained by FortisBC or a 
related entity under contract. FortisBC is an integrated electric utility with approximately 570 employees. 
It generates, transmits and distributes electricity throughout south-central British Columbia, serving 
approximately 150,000 customers.

The British Columbia Utilities Commission ("BCUC" or the "Commission") is a regulatory agency of the 
provincial government, operating under and administering the Utilities Commission Act. The Commission 
regulates public utilities. While CPC/CBT power project joint venture companies meet the definition of 
public utilities under the Act, they are exempt from BCUC regulation pursuant to a Minister’s Order. This 
Minister’s Order also exempts purchasers of joint venture power service in respect of the energy supply 
contracts for the purchase of that service. CPC interacts with a number of public utilities regulated by 
the Commission (including BC Hydro, British Columbia Transmission Corporation and FortisBC Inc.) and 
intervenes in Commission proceedings as needed to ensure joint venture interests are appropriately 
addressed.
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Power Project 
Planning Joint 

Venture1

Brilliant 
Power             

Corporation2

Columbia
Power

Corporation
Brilliant 

Expansion
Power             

Corporation4

Waneta 
Expansion

Power             
Corporation5

Arrow Lakes 
Power 

Corporation3

CBT Power 
Corporation

CBT Arrow 
Lakes Power 
Development 
Corporation

CBT Brilliant 
Expansion 

Power 
Corporation

Columbia
Basin Trust

CBT
Energy Inc.

Notes:
1.  Carries out early stage planning of power projects.
2.  Owns Brilliant Dam and Generating Station.
3.  Owns Arrow Lakes Generating Station.
4.  Owns Brilliant Expansion Generating Station.
5.  Owns Waneta Expansion rights.

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

50%

50%

50%

50%
50%

50%

50%

50%
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Figure 2.  Corporate Structure of the Columbia Power Corporation / Columbia Basin trust  
                    (CBt) Joint Ventures

Province
of

British
Columbia
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Corporate Governance

CPC is a corporation governed by the British Columbia Business Corporations Act. It is owned and controlled 
by and is an agent of the Province of British Columbia. Its directors are appointed annually by the Province. 
With the exception of Gerry Duffy, while he is acting as special advisor to the board, all directors are 
independent from management. The board considers six directors as an appropriate and effective board 
size for the corporation. In the event of a vacancy on the board, the Human Resources and Governance 
Committee identifies the required experiences and skills for potential directors, taking into consideration 
the board’s short-term needs and long-term succession plans, and in consultation with the Board Chair, 
recommends to the board for submission to the government the criteria and potential candidates.

In addition to the Human Resources and Governance Committee, the board has a Finance and Audit 
Committee and a Major Capital Projects Committee to assist the board in carrying out its responsibilities. 
The terms of reference for the board and each committee, detailed information about the directors, the 
committees and senior management, and position descriptions for the Board Chair, the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Corporate Secretary, are set out on the corporation’s web site: www.columbiapower.org. 
The corporation also has guidelines to assist the board in fulfilling its duties of stewardship and account-
ability. The board and the committees allot time during each regular meeting for the directors to meet 
without members of management in attendance. The board does not currently have a task force or work-
ing group. CPC has contracted with a major accounting firm for the provision of internal audit services.

The Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations ("the letter"+++) between the Minister of Energy, Mines and 
Petroleum Resources and the Board Chair (a copy of which is posted on the corporation’s web site) sets out 
the corporate mandate, including high-level performance expectations, public policy issues and strategic 
priorities. Pursuant to the Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations, the Board Chair and the special advisor to 
the board communicate regularly with the Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources or with 
representatives of the ministry, to report on implementation of the letter. The letter directs the 
corporation to conduct its operations and financial activities in a manner consistent with the legislative, 
regulatory and policy framework established by government. As required by the letter and the British 
Columbia Financial Administration Act, the corporation posts on its web site its annual report, its annual 
Financial Information Act Report and interim financial reports on a quarterly basis. The Auditor General of 
British Columbia is the external auditor for CPC.

Orientation and education of board members go hand-in-hand and are a continuous process. New 
directors are provided with access to material from a board manual that includes all the governance 
documents of the corporation, as well as current financial information, descriptions of the corporation’s 
business and assets and significant relationships, and are provided an early opportunity to meet with 
employees and to tour the operations. Each new director is provided with materials for and invited 
to attend a number of meetings of all committees to gain an understanding of their respective roles 
and functions, before being appointed to a specific committee. From time-to-time, the corporation 
engages outside advisors or consultants to brief the directors on matters of general interest or related to 
the corporation’s business or a specific project. The board terms of reference require an annual assessment 
of the board, each committee and the directors. In 2009, the assessment process involved a general board 
questionnaire prepared and collated by the chair of the Human Resources and Governance Committee.
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The corporation’s Standards of Ethical Conduct for Directors are published on the corporation’s web site. 
The directors are required to review the standards and declare compliance annually. The Standards of 
Ethical Conduct do not explicitly allow the board to grant waivers from any of its provisions. The corporation 
also has standards of conduct applicable to all employees as part of its human resources guidelines and 
policies.

The power projects undertaken by joint ventures with subsidiaries of the CBT are owned by British Columbia 
corporations, of which 50% of the shares are owned by CPC. The boards of directors of these jointly 
owned corporations are comprised of six directors, three nominated by CPC and three nominated by CBT.  

The corporation is substantially in compliance with the Board Resourcing and Development Offi  ce’s board 
disclosure requirements for Crown corporations.

Columbia Power Corporation Board of Directors - Back row (left to right) - Gerry Duff y, Ron Miles; Front row (left to 
right) - Tim Stanley, Lillian White, Greg Deck; Missing from photo - Lee Doney. - Ed Chernoff  photo
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BOARD OF DiRECtORS                                                    OFFiCERS

Lee Doney
Chair

Gerry Duffy
Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors and 

Special Advisor to the Board/Leader of the Executive Team
Gregory Deck Giulio Ambrosone

Vice President, Project Implementation
Ron Miles Victor Jmaeff

Vice President, Sales and Development
Tim Stanley Debbie Martin

Vice President, Human Resources & Corporate 
Services

Lillian White David de Git
Director, Finance
Don Rose
Corporate Secretary

BOARD COMMittEES

Finance and Audit Committee Lillian White, Chair
Lee Doney
Ron Miles

Human Resources and Governance Committee Gerry Duffy, Chair
Greg Deck
Lee Doney

Major Capital Projects Committee Tim Stanley, Chair
Gerry Duffy
Ron Miles

BOARD OF DiRECtORS AND OFFiCERS
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Clockwise from top right: Three Chiefs and other representatives from the Okanagan Nation visited Castlegar in the summer of 2009 and 
toured the Joint Venture facilities; Audrey Repin, Columbia Power’s Director of Communications & Community Relations presents a cheque to 
a representative of the Winlaw Nature Park to assist in the continuing construction of a boardwalk through the park; Representatives from 
the Regional Districts of Central Kootenay, Kootenay/Boundary and East Kootenay, as well as Columbia Basin Trust and Columbia Power, pose 
in front of the elcome to Kootenay Country  mural. The mural’s production was facilitated by Columbia Power and was displayed at C 
Street  in the City of Richmond’s  Zone  during the 2010 Olympic games; Representatives from the Regional District of Central Kootenay 
(RDCK), Columbia Basin Trust and Columbia Power pose in front of an historic interpretive sign that was erected by Columbia Power in the 
community of Glade, on land that was licensed to the RDCK by the Joint Venture partners. A boat launch, dock and picnic facilities were also 
installed at the site, as compensation for the construction of the Brilliant Expansion Project; The Joint Venture Partners hosted the ater 
Network —a group of students from across Canada concerned about the country’s water resources—on a tour of the Brilliant Expansion 
Project in the summer of 2009.
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Columbia Power Corporation Project Locations in the Columbia Basin
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Operations Overview

Columbia Power owns three operating hydroelectric generating facilities totaling 450 megawatts of 
energy capacity.  The past year has been dedicated to improving long term plant reliability while main-
taining our commitment to personal safety, dam safety and the environment.

REViEW OF POWER PROJECtS

Columbia Power Corporation and the Columbia Basin Trust (through its indirect subsidiary, CBT Power 
Corp.) have formed the Power Project Planning Joint Venture for the purpose of assessing and advancing 
power projects. The joint venture is owned on a 50/50 basis by the two parties, which direct its activities 
through a management committee composed of members from each party. CPC is the joint venture man-
ager. When a decision is made to proceed with construction of a power project, the project assets are 
transferred to a separate, jointly owned company. Currently, the Waneta Expansion is the focus of activi-
ties of the Power Project Planning Joint Venture, while other projects have been transferred to separate 
jointly owned companies, as set out on the following pages.

Concrete rehabilitation work began on the Brilliant dam in the spring of 2010. The Brilliant Expansion Generating Station is located 
immediately downstream of the dam. - Les Stanchuck photo.
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185 MW Arrow Lakes Generating Station

The Arrow Lakes Generating Station is a two-unit Kaplan 
turbine hydroelectric facility with a maximum capacity of 185 
megawatts. It is located adjacent to and 400 metres down-
stream of the pre-existing BC Hydro Hugh Keenleyside Dam, 
impounding the Arrow Reservoir and discharging into the 
upper Columbia River. The Arrow Lakes Generating Station 
and related assets are owned by Arrow Lakes Power 
Corporation (ALPC), a company jointly owned, on a 50/50 
basis, by Columbia Power and CBT Arrow Lakes Power 
Development Corp., an indirect subsidiary of the Columbia 
Basin Trust. 

The Hugh Keenleyside Dam was constructed in the 1960s by BC Hydro under the terms of the Columbia 
River Treaty. The dam was built to store and regulate water releases for downstream fl ood control and 
power generation benefi ts in the United States. Construction of the Arrow Lakes Generating Station 
between 1999–2002 realized power benefi ts in British Columbia by utilizing water releases for generation 
that would otherwise be spilled through the dam’s discharge facilities. The reduction of spill through 
utilizing water for power generation has also improved water conditions for fi sh by reducing the dissolved 
gas pressure levels downstream. The Arrow Lakes Generating Station is operated and maintained under a 
management agreement with Fortis Pacifi c Holdings Inc., a corporation related to FortisBC Inc.

The net income from Arrow Lakes Generating Station, for the year ended March 31, 2010, was $13.7 million 
compared with $12.7 million the previous year. This results from achieving over 95% availability at 
the facility and exceeds ALPC’s 
expectations for its annual 
income target.  Facility gen-
eration also well exceeded 
the expected average amounts 
which provided excellent ben-
efi ts to the customer of the 
power, BC Hydro.   The commer-
cial agreement with BC Hydro 
upon which the energy credits 
to the Arrow Lakes Generating 
Station are based have not had 
any need for modifi cation this 
year and are expected to re-
main unchanged in the upcom-
ing year.   No further changes to 
the annual energy entitlement 
are anticipated.

ALPC’s sustaining capital expenditures are funded by cash fl ow from operations. 2009/10 capital projects 
included upgrades to the intake area of the facility and completing the physical security upgrades that 
were started in the previous year.
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Arrow Lakes Generating Station Operations
Summary information
($ in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2009/10   2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06

Power Sales Revenue $    33,207 $   32,354 $   32,325 $   29,548  $   23,724 
Interest Revenue         77         293         513         441         727 
Operating Expenses     3,889      3,611     2,718     3,227      2,755 

Water Rentals      4,124       4,051      3,604      3,546      3,120 

Interest Expense     3,086       3,530      3,957      4,357      4,738 

Amortization (includes debt issue)     8,480       8,546     8,644      8,348     7,854 

Net Income Before Channel Repairs    13,705     12,909    13,915    10,493      5,984 

Channel Repair Costs   -    184   833    6,030    14,722 

Recovery of Repair Costs and Losses    -   -    8,583    14,423      5,929 

Net Income    13,705     12,725    21,665     18,886      (2,809)

Equity 227,271  226,066 239,841  242,333    225,147 

Dividend Payments   12,500    26,500   23,546   1,700         - 

Capital Expenditures      330      74      207      3,983      6,481 

Long-term Debt    45,551     54,447    62,883    70,882     78,467 

Current Portion of Long-term Debt           8,896       8,436        7,999      7,584         7,192 

Total Sales (megawatt-hours)  759, 941   762,949  763,078  739,148   613,343 

Average Price ($/megawatt-hour)      43.68       42.41      41.17      39.98      38.68 

Annual Return on Equity     6.0%      5.6%     9.0%     7.8%      -1.2% 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio        2.16         2.12        2.93        2.74          .85 

Arrow Lakes Generating Station (right) is immediately downstream of BC Hydro’s Hugh Keenleyside DamArrow Lakes Generating Station (right) is immediately downstream of BC Hydro’s Hugh Keenleyside Dam
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145 MW Brilliant Dam and Generating Station

The Brilliant Dam and Powerplant is a four-unit Francis 
turbine facility with a combined capacity of 145 megawatts.  
It is located on the Kootenay River, three kilometres up-
stream of the confl uence with the Columbia River.  The dam, 
powerplant and related assets are owned by Brilliant Power 
Corporation, which is jointly owned on a 50/50 basis by 
Columbia Power and CBT Power Corp., an indirect subsidiary 
of Columbia Basin Trust. 

The original 125 megawatt facility was purchased from 
Cominco Ltd. (now Teck) in 1996. Between 2000–2003, a signifi cant upgrade and life extension program 
was conducted on the four units, resulting in an additional 20 megawatts of facility capacity, 120 giga-
watt hours of additional energy, and modernization of all equipment for long-term reliability.

All of the energy from Brilliant is sold to FortisBC under the terms of the 60-year Brilliant Power Purchase 
Agreement, except for approximately 60 gigawatt hours of Brilliant Upgrade energy which is currently 
being sold to Powerex. The Brilliant Dam and Generating Station is operated and maintained by FortisBC 
on behalf of Brilliant Power Corporation. 

The net income from Brilliant Power Corporation, for the year ended March 31, 2010, was $11.1 million 
compared with $11.3 million the previous year. The capital expenditures during the year were $2.8 million 
compared with $2.9 million in the previous year.  Work continues on a  major 50-year refurbishment of 
the eight spill gates to ensure reliable operation and fl ood passage.  A major project to install additional 
anchors stabilizing the Brilliant Dam is underway and is scheduled for completion during 2010/11.  A 
project to refurbish the concrete abutments of the dam commenced in the spring of 2010 and is also 
scheduled for completion in 2010/11, with the expectation that the refurbishment will last another 40 
years.   Additional capital expenditures totaling over $8 million are planned for the next two years, in-
cluding the continuation of the concrete rehabilitation program and  dam stabilization work.

Brilliant terminal Station 

The Brilliant Terminal Station (BTS) is a 230 kilovolt switchyard 
which interconnects the Arrow Lakes Generating Station, 
Brilliant Expansion and Brilliant Dam and Generating Station 
to the integrated BC transmission system, including the 
British Columbia Transmission Corporation’s Selkirk Substation, 
BC Hydro’s Kootenay Canal, and FortisBC’s Warfi eld Substation. BTS 
is the electrical hub of the existing powerplants. It is owned by 
Brilliant Power Corporation and earns revenue under the same 
terms as the Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement. It is operated 
and maintained by FortisBC under separate agreement. 

Columbia Power jointly manages the BTS with FortisBC through a management committee.  

 For the upcoming fi scal year, involvement in any new equipment and reporting requirements from the 
Mandatory Reliability Standards legislation will be a key focus for the substation.

The Brilliant Dam and Powerplant is a four-unit Francis 
turbine facility with a combined capacity of 145 megawatts.  
It is located on the Kootenay River, three kilometres up-
stream of the confl uence with the Columbia River.  The dam, 
powerplant and related assets are owned by Brilliant Power 
Corporation, which is jointly owned on a 50/50 basis by 
Columbia Power and CBT Power Corp., an indirect subsidiary 
of Columbia Basin Trust. 

The original 125 megawatt facility was purchased from 
Cominco Ltd. (now Teck) in 1996. Between 2000–2003, a signifi cant upgrade and life extension program 

The Brilliant Terminal Station (BTS) is a 230 kilovolt switchyard 
which interconnects the Arrow Lakes Generating Station, 
Brilliant Expansion and Brilliant Dam and Generating Station 
to the integrated BC transmission system, including the 
British Columbia Transmission Corporation’s Selkirk Substation, 
BC Hydro’s Kootenay Canal, and FortisBC’s Warfi eld Substation. BTS 
is the electrical hub of the existing powerplants. It is owned by 
Brilliant Power Corporation and earns revenue under the same 
terms as the Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement. It is operated 
and maintained by FortisBC under separate agreement. 

Columbia Power jointly manages the BTS with FortisBC through a management committee.  
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Brilliant Dam and Generating Station Operations                                                                                     
Summary information 
($ in thousands unless otherwise stated)

 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06

Power Sales Revenue $   34,552  $   33,696  $   33,908  $   33,076  $   33,219

Brilliant Terminal Station Revenue 3,130 3,073 3,073 3,052 2,937

Interest Revenue        59        449        582        634        429

Operating Expenses     2,778     2,412     2,436     2,576     2,643

Taxes and Water Rentals     7,381     6,832     7,139     6,955     7,012

Interest Expense   11,267   11,535   11,853   12,114   12,363

Amortization     5,191     5,111     5,034     4,888     4,845

Net Income 11,124 11,328 11,101 10,229     9,722

Equity   76,330   74,306   73,577   67,693   68,993

Dividends 9,100 10,600 10,700 11,600     9,200

Capital Expenditures      2,868      2,918      2,313      1,101      1,851

Long-term Debt 140,807 145,473 149,811 153,845 157,597

Current Portion of Long-term Debt          4,666      4,338      4,034      3,752      3,491

Total Sales (megawatt-hours) 982,095 979,875 974,717 980,431 989,538

Average Price ($/megawatt-hour) 35.26 34.39 34.79 33.74 33.57

Annual Return on Equity 14.6% 15.3% 15.1% 15.0% 14.3%

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 1.76 1.78 1.78 1.75 1.72

A close-up view of the 
concrete rehabilitation work 
at the Brilliant dam, spring 
2010.
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120 MW Brilliant Expansion Generating Station 

The Brilliant Expansion Generating Station (Brilliant 
Expansion) is a single unit, 120 megawatt Kaplan 
turbine facility located on the Kootenay River adjacent to 
and 160 metres downstream of the pre-existing Brilliant 
Dam and Generating Station. The facility is connected to 
Brilliant Terminal Station (BTS), located approximately 
0.5 km away via a 230 kilovolt transmission line. 

The Brilliant Expansion and related assets are owned 
by Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation, a company 
jointly owned, on a 50 / 50 basis, by Columbia Power and 

CBT Brilliant Expansion Power Corp., an indirect subsidiary of Columbia Basin Trust. Brilliant Expansion 
began commercial operation in September 2007. Approximately 90% of the Brilliant Expansion energy 
and capacity is sold under two long-term agreements to BC Hydro. Operation and maintenance of the 
Brilliant Expansion is conducted under contract to Fortis Pacifi c Holdings Inc., a corporation related to 
FortisBC Inc. 

Brilliant Expansion net income for the fi scal year ended March 31, 2010 was $17.2 million compared with 
$13.8 million the previous year.  With one year remaining on equipment warranties, a number of tests 
and inspections were planned and executed during the Annual Planned Outage in the spring of 2010 to 
identify any issues with the equipment before the warranty expires.  

Major projects in 2009/10 included repairs to the power transformer and completing the public safety 
upgrade projects.

The Brilliant Expansion Generating Station (Brilliant 
Expansion) is a single unit, 120 megawatt Kaplan 
turbine facility located on the Kootenay River adjacent to 
and 160 metres downstream of the pre-existing Brilliant 
Dam and Generating Station. The facility is connected to 
Brilliant Terminal Station (BTS), located approximately 
0.5 km away via a 230 kilovolt transmission line. 

The
by Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation, a company 
jointly owned, on a 50 / 50 basis, by Columbia Power and 

CBT Brilliant Expansion Power Corp., an indirect subsidiary of Columbia Basin Trust. Brilliant Expansion 

Workers prepare for the intake gate emergency close test that was successfully completed at the Brilliant Expansion in spring 2010.
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Brilliant Expansion Generating Station Operations                                                                                    
Summary information 
($ in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2009/10 2008/09 2007/08

Power Sales Revenue $       26,282  $      21,103     $      11,199

Eco Energy Grant 4,220 4,832 -

Interest and US Exchange Gain        24      1,310        294

Purchase of Power 2,075 2,805 2,637

Operating Expenses     4,056     4,979     2,808

US Exchange Loss 347 - -

Water Rentals     1,732     386     258

Interest Expense   197   554   301

Amortization     4,940     4,766     2,645

Net Income 17,179 13,756 2,766

Equity  235,227  238,248  234,292

Dividend Payments 9,200 - -

Capital Expenditures     1,136     17,507     23,158

Long-term Debt    -                 -           -

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt                      -                      -                      -

Total Sales (megawatt-hours) 482,228 404,089 186,729

Average Price ($/megawatt-hour) 57.37 53.09 64.66

Annual Return on Equity 7.3% 5.8% 1.2%

Debt Service Coverage Ratio n/a n/a n/a

The sheet pile wall, constructed in 2008 to divert fl ows from the Brilliant dam away from the Brilliant 
Expansion tailrace, is visible in this photo taken from the roadway across the Brilliant dam.
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Waneta Hydroelectric Expansion Project

The Waneta Expansion is a project to construct a second 
powerhouse adjacent to the Waneta Dam on the Pend 
d’Oreille River south of Trail, BC. The expansion project will 
share the dam’s hydraulic head and make use of water fl ows 
that would otherwise be spilled. The rights to use this 
hydraulic head, as well as the land necessary to build the 
expansion project, were acquired by Columbia Power from 
Cominco Ltd. (now Teck) in 1994. These rights are now held 
by Waneta Expansion Power Corporation, the company 
formed jointly by Columbia Power and Columbia Basin Trust 

to develop, construct and operate the project.

The base concept for the Waneta Expansion has been structured to avoid potential environmental 
impacts on white sturgeon habitat in the Columbia/Pend d’Oreille confl uence area. Water will be conveyed 
through two large-diameter tunnels from the Waneta forebay into a two-unit powerhouse to be built 
ª in the dry” on the right bank of the Pend d’Oreille River, between the Waneta Dam and Highway 22A. 
Output from the units will be stepped up to 230 kilovolts and connected through powerhouse switching 
equipment to a new 10 kilometre transmission line that will join the project to the Selkirk Substation.

The addition of up to 335 megawatts of capacity at Waneta will achieve balance with upstream genera-
tion at the Seven Mile Dam (BC Hydro) and the Boundary Dam (Seattle City Light). This hydraulic balance 
will allow fl ows released from the Boundary Dam to travel the Canadian section of the Pend d’Oreille 
River without the need for reservoir re-regulation to avoid spill. Minimizing re-regulation will increase the 
productivity of reservoir aquatic habitat. In addition, diverting otherwise unavoidable spill through the 
Waneta Expansion will reduce harmful dissolved gas supersaturation in waters below the Waneta Dam 
and down the Columbia River into the United States.

In May 2009, the Partners an-
nounced that SNC-Lavalin was 
the preferred proponent for 
the design and construction of 
the Waneta Expansion Project. 
Then, in November 2009, the 
Partners announced that the 
project, as currently structured, 
would not be moving forward.  
Currently, other avenues and 
potential partners are being 
sought to increase the viability 
of the project.

to develop, construct and operate the project.

Plan view of Waneta Expansion design base concept.
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REPORt ON PERFORMANCE

Columbia Power Corporation’s mandate, which was established by agreements between the Province and 
Columbia Basin Trust, drives Columbia Power Corporation’s line of business (see the sequential business 
model in Figure 3). Projects move through the planning, construction and operations phases, with Co-
lumbia Power providing overall management. The organization’s values are applied in setting goals and 
objectives and conducting business activities. Performance measures are the scorecards for measuring 
the achievement of Columbia Power’s vision.

Figure 4 illustrates how Columbia Power’s mandate, vision and values are linked to its business model 
and performance.  Columbia Power’s performance measurement framework, current year results 
and future targets are more fully described in Appendix A which is accessible on the company web site at: 
www.columbiapower.org/pdf/company/CPC_Service%20_Plan_2011-2013_Appendix_A_FINAL.pdf 

Performance Plan Summary

Columbia Power Corporation achieved mixed results relative to its 2009/10 performance targets. The 
following objectives were realized: 

Achieved reliable plant operations for the Brilliant Generating Station, Brilliant Expansion 
and Arrow Lakes Generating Station, confirmed by strong energy entitlement ratios. The plant 
operations and the future direction for operations performance measures are further discussed in 
Appendix B: www.columbiapower.org/media/documents/CPC_ServicePlan_2010_AppendixB.pdf; 

Maintained investment grade bond ratings and a capital structure that will allow further bond 
issues as required for project investment; 

Achieved a return on equity greater than planned for the period; 

The Arrow Lakes Generating Station and the Brilliant Expansion had lower than targeted operation, 
maintenance and administration (OMA) unit costs.

The need to examine alternative sales and partnership structures resulted in development costs ex-
ceeding the budget.

Performance Measures Framework

Columbia Power Corporation’s performance measures framework follows the Budget Transparency 
and Accountability Act requirements for performance measures, benchmarks and targets linked to 
specific goals, objectives and strategies. The framework also reflects Columbia Power’s dual func-
tions as a development company and an operating company. The framework provides broad goals 
and underlying objectives, aligns specific corporate strategies to each objective, incorporates on-
going research regarding suitable benchmarks and targets, and comments on the significance of 
results.

Given Columbia Power’s role as joint venture manager and the extent to which it contracts out, 
finding suitable industry benchmarks remains a challenge, as the industry is largely dominated by 
vertically integrated regulated utilities. These challenges are described more fully in Appendix A.

Columbia Power believes the performance measures used highlight the most crucial aspects of its 
performance, but are also subject to refinement and evolution as the organization matures (see 
Appendix B.) 
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Source of Data and Reliability

Columbia Power believes its performance measures are reliable and valid. Although current and 
historical performance measures are not audited, they are derived largely from audited informa-
tion, information subject to third-party verification and information independently provided.

A number of Columbia Power’s performance targets are based on forecasts of future events. They 
were estimated using assumptions that reflect Columbia Power’s planned courses of action and 
judgments as to the most probable set of economic conditions.  Because of the nature of forecast-
ing future events, users of this information are cautioned that actual results may vary from the 
information presented.

(left and below) - Sheila Street, Columbia Power’s 
Manager, Environmental Support, releases a juvenile 
sturgeon into the Columbia River during a sturgeon 
release event in April 2010.

(left) - Bighorn sheep visit the reclamation area 
at the Arrow Lakes Generating Station. Columbia 
Power has completed extensive rehabilitation work 
at the reclamation site to make the area attractive 
to birds and wildlife.
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Operate

Build

Evaluate

Design

Mandate
Values

Applied in setting goals and objectives and 
conducting business activities

Vision 
Achievement 

Scorecard

CPC business model Performance
MeasuresObjectivesGoals

Reliable Plant 
      Operation
II. Reliable plant 

     operations
3.

Eff ective Project 
      Development
I.

Manage

3.1  Energy entitlement 
         ratio

4.1  Bond rating

  Effi  cient Joint 
        Venture 
        Management

IV.

  Eff ective Financial 
        Planning
III.

Investment grade  
     non-taxpayer-
     supported debt

4.
4.2  Debt service      
         coverage ratio

4.3  Capital structure

Acceptable return   
     on equity
5.

 5.1  Return on equity

Cost-effi  cient joint    
      venture management
6.

Environmental 
      compliance
7.

6.1  OMA unit cost for    
          assets in service

 7.1  Number of non-
         compliance notices

Development of  
      projects on time
1.

Development of 
      projects on budget
2.

 1.1  Variance in project   
         development time

 2.1  Variance from 
         project budget

Figure 3:  Performance Plan Summary
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ALGS - Arrow Lakes Generating Station; BRD - Brilliant Dam; BRX - Brilliant Expansion; BTS - Brilliant Terminal Station;
CEA - Canadian Electricity Association; OMA - operations, maintenance and administration

Figure 4:  Performance Measures at a Glance

Benchmark

1.1  Variance in project 
       development time

On Schedule
(no negative variance 

from schedule)

2009/10 
Actual  

2009/10
target

WAX still under 
decision

WAX proceeding 
to final Go/No Go 

decision

Achievement



Significance

Delayed progress 
toward WAX project 

final decision

2.1  Variance from 
       project budgets

On Budget
(no negative variance 

from budget)

WAX development 
costs exceeded 

budget
WAX on budget 

Delayed progress 
results in 

additional cost

4.2  Debt service coverage
        ratio

Greater than or 
equal to 1.3

ALGS:  2.2
BRD:   1.8

ALGS:  2.3
BRD:    1.7 Maintain low

cost of debt

ALGS: 
BRD:  

5.1  Return on equity
Over the life of 

the project 
comparable to 

regulated utilities

5.4% 5.2%

Return on 
equity above 
target due to 
BRX revenue



6.1  OMA unit cost for 
        assets in service

1st Quartile: 
See 

Benchmarking 
Appendix B

ALGS:  $4.54
BRD:    $2.38
BRX:    $8.60

ALGS:  $5.26
BRD:    $2.26
BRX:    $9.86

 ALPC and BRX: 
Operations, 

maintenance and 
admin costs lower 

than target

ALGS:  
BRD:  
BRX:    

7.1  Environmental
         compliance

Baseline 
information to be 

developed

Zero material 
non-compliance 

notices

Zero material 
non-compliance 

notices

Manage in 
accordance with 
environmental 

values


Maintained 
ratings for all 

bonds

Maintain 
investment grade 

ratings for all 
bonds

 Maintain low 
cost of debt4.1  Bond rating Investment grade 

bond ratings

3.1  Plant availability >95%
ALGS:   >95%
BRD:     >95%
BRX:     >95%

     ALGS:   >95%
     BRD:     >95%
     BRX:     >92%


Power plants 

operated reliably 
in 2009/10

4.3  Capital structure
CEA composite 

measure for 
2005 = 76:24

 22:78   22:78 
Future borrowing 

potential 
maintained
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ALiGNMENt WitH SHAREHOLDER’S LEttER OF EXPECtAtiONS

On an annual basis, Columbia Power receives a Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations (the "Letter") from the 
Provincial government (the  "Shareholder.") The letter directs Columbia Power to conduct its aff airs to 
achieve the objectives of the Shareholder in a manner consistent with the Shareholder’s general and 
specifi c directions. The Shareholder’s general directions include that CPC achieve its mandate consistent 
with the principles of integrity, effi  ciency, eff ectiveness and accountability, and conduct its operations 
and fi nancial activities in a manner consistent with the legislative, regulatory and policy framework 
established by government.

In January 2009, the Honorable Richard Neufeld, former Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources, 
signed the Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations, which outlined the expectations of CPC and the primary 
responsibilities of the corporation for 2009. The expectations and CPC’s alignment is summarized in the table 
below. 

A copy of the current Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations is available for viewing on our web site at:  
www.columbiapower.org/media/documents/Shareholder_Letter_of_Expectations.pdf

Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations  CPC Alignment
Climate Change
Contribute to the BC Provincial Government’s climate 
action objectives and comply with requirement for Crown 
agencies to achieve carbon neutrality by 2010.

CPC has made strides toward carbon neutrality and is 
now using 100% post consumer paper for all copy and 
print paper. The vehicle fl eet is nearly optimized with the 
replacement of one truck with a more energy effi  cient 
model.  Seventy-seven percent of all CPC staff  are trained 
in Climate Change and the CPC Carbon Neutral Plan.

Waneta Expansion
Develop and bring forward by March 31, 2009, for 
consideration and review by the Shareholder, an update 
on the status of the Waneta Expansion Project.

CPC provided an update on the Waneta Expansion 
to the project board on March 24, 2009. The update 
reported on the status of the selection of a preferred 
proponent to design/build the project and the 
development of a fi nancing plan.

Columbia Basin trust
Continue to work with Columbia Basin Trust to increase 
effi  ciency and reduce the cost of power development and 
management activities.

CPC and Columbia Basin Trust are jointly located in 
Castlegar, and have incorporated the sharing of 
information technology and reception services.

Energy Policy
Ensure self-suffi  ciency to meet electricity needs, including 
ª insurance.”

All new electricity generation projects will have zero net 
greenhouse gas emissions.

Long term power sales agreements contribute to meeting 
BC’s electricity needs. The proposed Waneta Expansion, if 
approved, would further contribute to meeting BC’s 
self-suffi  ciency in electricity requirements.

The Brilliant Upgrades, Arrow Lakes Generating Station, 
Brilliant Expansion and the proposed Waneta Expansion 
are all hydroelectric projects and have zero net greenhouse 
gas emissions.



COLUMBIA   POWER   CORPORATION          ANNUAL  REPORT       •       2009 / 10�0

MANAGEMENt DiSCUSSiON AND ANALYSiS
Results of Operations

Net income earned by Columbia Power Corporation in 2009/10 was $19.8 million, compared with planned 
net income for the year of $18.1 million and net income of $18.3 million in the previous year. Net income of 
Columbia Power includes the consolidated 50% share of the net income of Arrow Lakes Power Corporation, 
Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation and Brilliant Power Corporation. Revenues were not significantly 
affected by foreign exchange volatility or by fluctuations in electricity markets, as most power sales are 
under long-term contracts in Canadian dollars.

Arrow Lakes Power Corporation recorded net income of $13.7 million in 2009/10 compared to planned 
income of $12.5 million and net income of $12.7 million in 2008/09.  The increase was due to increasing 
power sales revenue as a result of the annual escalation in the power sales agreement.  Interest expense 
also decreased.

Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation recorded net income of $17.2 million in 2009/10 compared to 
planned net income of $13.4 million and $13.8 million net income in 2008/09. Revenue was $2.3 million 
higher than forecast due to advancing the commencement of a power sales agreement with BC Hydro by 
six months.  Operating costs for the Brilliant Expansion were about $1.5 million less than forecast.

Brilliant Power Corporation recorded net income of $11.1 million in 2009/10 compared to planned income 
of $12.3 million and net income of $11.3 million in 2008/09.  The decrease compared to the prior year is 
primarily due to lower market sales revenues, lower interest revenues and higher operating costs offset 
partially by higher revenue from long term sales and reduced interest expense during the year. Brilliant 
Terminal Station revenues of $3.1 million were in line with the prior year and forecasts and are included 
in Brilliant Power Corporation’s financial results.

The debt service coverage ratio for Brilliant Power Corporation decreased slightly from the prior year while 
the debt service coverage ratio for Arrow Lakes Power Corporation increased as a result of higher net in-
come. The investment grade bond ratings for the two corporations were maintained. Brilliant Expansion 
Power Corporation has no long term debt and therefore no debt service coverage ratio.

During 2009/10, CPC’s return on equity was 5.4% compared with the planned return of 5.2% for the year 
and actual performance of 5.3% in the previous year. This reflected the improved operating income aris-
ing from increasing net income from the Brilliant Expansion.

Financing Activities

Investing activities were funded from Columbia Power’s cash reserves and cash from operations. The use 
of internal sources of cash had a positive impact on financing costs.  Columbia Power will declare a divi-
dend of $2 million for 2009/10, payable to the Province of British Columbia, the same amount as in the 
previous year.

investing Activities

Capital spending during the year was $6.9 million, compared with planned expenditures of $8.5 million 
for the year and expenditures of $16.2 million in the previous year. Almost all of these funds were invested 
in power projects undertaken jointly with the Columbia Basin Trust, and they represent CPC’s 50% portion 
of joint venture capital spending. The major component of the capital expenditures was the Waneta
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Expansion development activities. Columbia Power used distributions from the power projects to pay for 
corporate asset additions.

Power Sales Activities

For Columbia Power, a high priority in 2009/10 was to secure markets for Waneta Expansion power and 
capacity.  

The sale of generation from the Arrow Lakes Generating Station is fully subscribed under a long-term sales 
agreement with BC Hydro, which expires in 2015. 

Under a 60-year power purchase agreement, 94% of the power from the Brilliant Dam is sold to FortisBC. 
The remainder was sold on a market basis to Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation.

Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation sells its power to BC Hydro under the 2002/03 Green Power Genera-
tion Electricity Purchase Agreement and under a 2006 Electricity Purchase Agreement which commenced 
in 2009/10. Brilliant Expansion power not sold to BC Hydro in 2009/10 is sold on a short-term basis to 
Powerex Ltd.

Columbia Power is a Western System Power Pool member.

Liquidity and Sources of Capital

Future operational cash is earmarked to fund sustaining capital for operating plants and, subject to the 
dividend requirements of the Province and the Columbia Basin Trust, to provide equity for the Waneta 
Expansion. 

Columbia Power has access to the Province’s fiscal agency loan program. Subject to the creditworthiness 
of future power sales contracts, considerable long-term and short-term borrowing capacity is also avail-
able from the existing power projects to finance the Waneta Expansion and other projects. 

Critical Accounting Estimates

Disclosure of CPC’s critical accounting policies is contained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments. Preparing financial statements in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Columbia Power’s investments in power projects 
operate primarily under long-term contracts in Canadian dollars with high credit-rated counterparties; 
and receive power entitlements in exchange for actual electrical power generation, thereby significantly 
reducing annual hydrology risk. As a result, Columbia Power believes it is not exposed to the same num-
ber of critical accounting estimates that may be required of management of other independent 
power producers with hydroelectric operations of comparable size. Columbia Power’s amounts recorded 
for amortization are based on estimates of economic service life. By their nature, these estimates are 
subject to measurement uncertainty. Changes to these estimates may impact the consolidated financial 
statements of future periods.
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Changes in Accounting Policies

Effective April 1, 2009, CPC adopted a new accounting standard for goodwill and intangible assets.  This 
standard provides more comprehensive guidance on intangible assets, particularly for internally devel-
oped intangible assets.  The adoption of this new section resulted in the reclassification of the power sales 
right from Other Assets to Intangibles and had no impact on earnings.

international Financial Reporting Standards (iFRS)

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed the decision and timeline 
to adopt globally accepted accounting standards by converging Canadian GAAP with IFRS for publicly 
accountable enterprises. In December 2009, the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) amended the 
introduction to the Public Sector Accounting Handbook confirming that government business enterprises 
are directed to adhere to standards for publicly accountable enterprises in the private sector as deter-
mined by the AcSB. The AcSB confirmed that the date for the first full set of IFRS financial statements will 
be for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with comparative figures for the prior year.

CPC has engaged an external advisor and assembled a core project team to assess and evaluate IFRS.  
Regular reporting is provided to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors. Identification of potential 
differences between IFRS and existing GAAP, as well as detailed assessment of those expected differences 
has been reviewed. CPC will continue with the processes necessary to be prepared to comply with PSAB 
directions.
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Capacity, Outlook and Risks

The key strategic issues facing Columbia Power Corporation include:

Obtaining federal and provincial approvals, permits and licenses to develop and operate power 
projects on international rivers within a complex environmental regulatory system, which includes 
federal and provincial regulators, an international treaty and local, regional, United States and First 
Nations stakeholders.

Developing regional support for the joint venture power projects through consultation with local and 
regional community stakeholders, negotiating land issues with owners and addressing First Nations 
issues related to the power projects.

Securing power sales contracts for the Waneta Expansion in a domestic market where there is one 
dominant wholesale buyer.

The Canadian dollar has strengthened and the weak US economy has reduced market prices. Con-
struction costs have also retreated and appear to have stabilized.

Implementing a plan to finance the construction of the Waneta Expansion, managing the uncertainty 
of future interest rates (thus the cost of debt financing), and determining the appropriate capital 
structure for the joint ventures.

Developing human resource and compensation strategies to ensure appropriate succession planning, 
recruitment and staff retention for CPC in a labour market that is expected to become increasingly 
competitive due in part to an aging population. Since the closure of the Victoria office in December 
2007, CPC faces additional challenges attracting senior staff to a rural area.

CPC has a mandate to develop and operate powerplants at existing dams on the Columbia, Kootenay 
and Pend d’Oreille Rivers using water that would otherwise be spilled. The three “core” power projects 
(Arrow Lakes Generating Station, Brilliant Expansion and Waneta Expansion) have relatively low capacity 
utilization factors and rely primarily on spring run-off water and upstream flow regulation. While these 
new power projects create significant net environmental benefits in the form of greenhouse gas offsets 
and reduced dissolved gases harmful to fish, it can be difficult to translate these benefits (particularly 
benefits to fish) into higher power prices. The joint venture power projects operate in a domestic power 
market where there is a single dominant wholesale purchaser and constrained long-term firm transmis-
sion capacity to adjacent power markets in Alberta and the U. S. Pacific Northwest. Accordingly, CPC, as 
joint venture manager, must be efficient and innovative to achieve its goals and objectives. The expertise 
of CPC staff and their relationships with private-sector engineering, environmental, financial and legal 
advisors are critical to the success of CPC.

The Brilliant Dam and Generating Station, Brilliant Terminal Station, and the Arrow Lakes Generating 
Station are operated and maintained by FortisBC or its related company under long-term service agree-
ments. The Brilliant Expansion is operated and maintained under a shorter term service agreement with 
FortisBC’s related company.

CPC develops and operates the joint venture power projects using limited-recourse project debt without a 
provincial debt guarantee. Like independent power producers, the power project joint venture companies 
sell into the wholesale power market, primarily under long-term purchase agreements with regulated 
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utilities. Most of the power from the Brilliant Dam is sold to FortisBC under a 60-year purchase agree-
ment that expires in 2056. This agreement provides for approved capital and operating costs, including 
reasonable increases in those costs over the term of the agreement, to be passed through to FortisBC with 
approved capital expenditures earning a pre-determined rate of return on equity. There is also a provision 
for market-based price adjustments beginning in the 20th year of the agreement. Power from the Arrow 
Lakes Generating Station is sold to BC Hydro under a 12-year purchase agreement that expires in 2015, 
and about 95% of the power from the Brilliant Expansion is sold to BC Hydro under two 20-year purchase 
agreements that expire in 2027 and 2030. These agreements have provisions for the contract price to 
escalate.

CPC’s net income and return on equity will continue to increase as recently completed projects gener-
ate power and revenue for a full 12 months. Factors that could affect the future rate of return include: 
power market developments, interest and exchange rate movements, payments to government, and ac-
cess to transmission systems. The BC Energy Plan: A Vision for Clean Energy Leadership, released in February 
2007 supports the development of CPC’s projects by requiring self sufficiency by 2016, ensuring adequate 
transmission system capacity, improving the procurement process for electricity and promoting clean or 
renewable energy.

Future dividends will be determined based on annual cash earnings, working capital requirements, re-
serves for future capital replacement, and new power project investment opportunities. At the Brilliant 
Dam and Generating Station, the Terminal Station and the Arrow Lakes Generating Station, prices are 
fixed by long-term contracts and are not affected by changes in power markets. Entitlement agreements 
with BC Hydro provide firm amounts of power regardless of actual water flows, thereby reducing annual 
hydrology risk. Interest costs for projects in operation are fixed through the issuance of long-term bonds. 
At the Brilliant Dam and Generating Station, earnings stability is further enhanced by the cost-of-service 
nature of the power sales agreement with FortisBC. Although the power sales agreement with BC Hydro 
for the Arrow Lakes Generating Station does not have this feature, the plant is relatively new and operat-
ing costs are low relative to revenues, as is typical in a hydroelectric generating facility.

With approximately 95% of the Brilliant Expansion plant output sold under two long-term contracts with 
BC Hydro, Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation’s remaining output is sold on a short-term market basis.
 
The following table presents an analysis of the primary risks that CPC faced and the strategies imple-
mented during 2009/10 to address these risks.
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Risk Management by Columbia Power Corporation (CPC) in 2009/10 

Risk issue/impact Results During 2009/10

Waneta Expansion 
Construction 
Decision

Construction of Waneta Expansion 
is subject to: design-build contract, 
entitlement negotiations, power 
marketing and long-term borrowing 
costs. 

Each could affect project timing, cost, 
scale and viability.

The selection of a preferred contractor 
occurred in May 2009.  

In November 2009, the restructuring of the 
Waneta Expansion was announced to look at 
other avenues and potential partners to move 
the project forward.

CPC pursued power/capacity sales and a new 
partnership arrangement pursuant to the 
WAX project restructuring.

Waneta Expansion 
Entitlement / Canal 
Plant Agreement 
Renegotiations

The renewed and extended Canal 
Plant Agreement between BC Hydro, 
CPC, FortisBC Inc. and Teck, which 
came into effect in April 2006, 
provides for the Waneta Expansion.  
The Agreement runs until at least 
December 31, 2035.

Negotiations with BC Hydro continued 
through 2009/10 for an entitlement 
agreement for the Waneta Expansion, which 
may entail amendments to the Canal Plant 
Agreement.

Availability of Funds Further leveraging of the joint 
venture power assets is required for 
completion of the Waneta Expansion 
and future projects.

Key project agreements are 
structured to achieve financeable 
projects with a high credit rating.

During 2009, CPC/CBT worked on determining 
the optimum solution for financing the 
Waneta Expansion, if the restructured project 
proceeds with another partner. 

                

Interest Rate Risk Higher interest rates could negatively 
impact the cost of new project debt, 
project net income and the economics 
and ability to finance the Waneta 
Expansion. A percentage point 
interest rate rise could reduce annual 
net income by up to $7 million.

During 2009/10, CPC/CBT continued to pursue 
debt management strategies and use interest 
rate hedges to manage risk to acceptable 
levels, as appropriate. 

The Owners retained a Financial Advisor 
to develop a financing plan for Waneta 
Expansion and provide a recommendation on 
the optimum capital structure for the CPC/
CBT power projects.

Counter-party 
Credit Risks

Bond ratings and interest costs for 
project debt are affected by the 
creditworthiness of the buyer.

CPC’s marketing efforts were directed at 
selling power to purchasers with high credit 
ratings and entering backstop arrangements 
as appropriate.
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Risk Management by Columbia Power Corporation (CPC) in 2009/10 (continued)

Risk issue/impact Results During 2009/10

Brilliant Expansion 
Power Marketing

Ninety-five percent of the Brilliant 
Expansion output has been sold to BC 
Hydro under two 20-year contracts, 
the second of which commenced in 
February 2010.  A short-term sales 
agreement has been negotiated with 
Powerex at market prices for the 
remaining energy.  

BEPC advanced commencement of the second 
BC Hydro contract by six months to realize 
higher prices than achievable through market 
sales. 

Plant Reliability Plant outage risk for the Brilliant 
facility is transferred to FortisBC 
Inc. as the power purchaser/plant 
operator.  

If the Brilliant Expansion and Arrow 
Lakes Generating Station plant 
outage factor were to increase by 1 
percentage point, revenues and net 
income would decline by $650,000 in 
2009/10.

Machinery and equipment at BRX have a year 
remaining on manufacturer warranties.  

All power projects also carry business 
interruption, property and liability insurance.

Optimal plant operations and maintenance is 
overseen by CPC.

Transmission and 
Market Access

Columbia Power / Columbia Basin 
Trust power projects are located in 
a region with limited long-term 
firm transmission capacity to access 
adjacent markets in Alberta and the 
U.S. 

Columbia Power monitors and participates 
in BC Utilities Commission hearings that deal 
with potential transmission expansion.

Columbia Power also pursues sales contract 
opportunities, with delivery at Columbia 
Power / Columbia Basin Trust points of 
interconnection.
                                                                    

Regulatory Risk Columbia Power / Columbia Basin 
Trust power projects are subject to 
regulatory risk due to a changing 
regulatory environment.  

Fisheries and Oceans Canada is 
considering many changes which 
may be applied retroactively to 
hydroelectric assets.

CPC monitors and participates in the 
regulatory proceedings of BC Hydro, British 
Columbia Transmission Corporation and 
FortisBC Inc. and others as needed to ensure 
joint venture interests are appropriately 
addressed.  

CPC is involved in industry association 
and policy groups to proactively manage 
regulatory risks such as Fisheries Act, Species 
at Risk legislation and dam safety.
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Risk issue/impact Results During 2009/10

Property Taxation Taxing the Waneta Expansion at 
current property tax rates would 
reduce annual project net income by 
about $4 million. 

Columbia Power has previously obtained 
Orders in Council exempting Arrow Lakes 
Generating Station and the Brilliant Expansion 
from property tax but instead pays grants-in-
lieu of tax.

Water Use Planning 
and Columbia River 
Treaty Operations 
Risk

Constraints imposed by BC Hydro 
water use planning and changes in 
upstream flow regulation associated 
with the Columbia River Treaty 
could adversely affect powerplant 
operations and project revenues, 
unless Columbia Power / Columbia 
Basin Trust are saved harmless. 

Columbia Power monitors changes to water 
use planning initiatives.

Foreign Exchange 
Risk

A 1¢ change in the Canadian dollar 
relative to the U.S. dollar represents 
about $43,000 per year for the 
Brilliant Expansion power entitlement 
currently sold to Powerex.

Sales to BC Hydro and FortisBC Inc. are in 
Canadian dollars.  Sales to Powerex are in 
US dollars.  About 79 GWh of sales through 
Brilliant Expansion are subject to this risk.  

The second contract with BC Hydro for Brilliant 
Expansion was advanced by six months and 
reduced this risk as the contract is in Canadian 
dollars.  

The risk for WAX may be mitigated if CPC 
secures a long-term power sales agreement 
with a domestic purchaser.

Attracting and 
Maintaining Key 
Staff

CPC requires the organizational 
capacity to effectively manage all 
existing and new facilities.

If CPC’s mandate to develop projects 
extends beyond the Waneta 
Expansion, it will need organizational 
capacity to identify and develop 
projects.

CPC developed  Human Resource strategies 
and compensation plans to keep and attract 
key staff to its head office in Castlegar.

Risk Management by Columbia Power Corporation (CPC) in 2009/10 (continued)
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Five-Year Comparative Data 
($ in thousands unless otherwise stated) 

2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06

Power Sales  $  49,659 $  46,127 $  38,896 $  31,312 $  28,438 

Interest and Other Earnings      1,907       3,391       2,906       3,732       3,247 

Net Income      19,786      18,335      15,876      14,794      3,138 

Dividend Payments       2,000       2,000       2,000       2,000       2,000 

Capital Assets and Deferred Costs  362,744   364,131  388,554  381,279  377,311 

Long-term Debt (includes current portion)  99,961   106,348  112,363  118,031  123,374 

Equity   367,020   347,234   330,899   317,350   304,557

Capital and Deferred Spending $ 6,900  $ 16,190 $ 15,226 $ 10,426 $  17,343 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio   22:78   27:73   28:72   26:74   29:71

Consolidated Statement of income Forecast
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
($ in thousands)

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
REVENUES
  Sale of Power $ 51,037 $ 52,348 $ 53,733
  Interest and Other Charges 1,895 1,812 1,731

52,932 54,160 55,464

EXPENSES
  Amortization 9,632 9,700 9,756
  Taxes and Water Rentals 7,463 7,612 7,765
  Operations and Other 7,675 7,725 8,315

24,769 25,036 25,836

iNCOME FROM OPERAtiONS 28,163 29,123 29,628
FiNANCE CHARGES 7,676 7,183 6,640

NEt iNCOME $ 20,485 $ 21,939 $ 22,986

Notes:
1. Revenues and expenses in the consolidated statement of income represent Columbia Power Corporation’s 50 percent    
     share of joint venture revenues and expenses.
2.  The above financial information, including forecast information, was prepared based on current Canadian Generally  
      Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).



COLUMBIA   POWER   CORPORATION          ANNUAL  REPORT       •       2009 / 10 �9

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

Table of Contents

Statement of Management Responsibility     40

Auditor’s Report        41

Consolidated Balance Sheet       42

Consolidated Statement of income      44  
     
Consolidated Statement of Retained Earnings     45

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows      46

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements    47



COLUMBIA   POWER   CORPORATION          ANNUAL  REPORT       •       2009 / 10�0

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

Statement of Management Responsibility

The consolidated financial statements of Columbia Power Corporation have been prepared by management 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and fairly present Columbia Power 
Corporation’s consolidated financial position and results of operations. The integrity of the information 
presented in the consolidated financial statements, including estimates and judgements relating to 
matters not concluded by fiscal year end, is the responsibility of management.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate systems of internal control (which 
includes policies and procedures) to provide reasonable assurance that Columbia Power Corporation’s 
assets are safeguarded and that reliable financial records are maintained.

The Auditor General of British Columbia has been appointed by the Board of Directors to audit the 
consolidated financial statements. The report of the Auditor General of British Columbia is attached, 
outlining the scope of his examination and providing his opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements.

     

Gerry Duffy      David De Git
Special Advisor to the Board    Director, Finance

May 19, 2010
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Report of the Auditor General
        of British Columbia

To the Board of Directors of
     Columbia Power Corporation and

To the Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources,
     Province of British Columbia

I have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Columbia Power Corporation as at 
March 31, 2010 and the consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash 
flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Corporation’s management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.

In my opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Columbia Power Corporation as at March 31, 2010 and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Victoria, British Columbia     John Doyle, MBA, CA
June 16, 2010       Auditor General
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT MARCH 31, 2010
(in thousands)

2010 2009

ASSETS

Current assets

     Cash and temporary investments (Note 4)                                                                            $          44,008 $         30,879
     Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue (Note 5) 8,446 10,590
     Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,251 2,132

54,705 43,601

Capital assets (Note 6) 343,660 349,349

Intangibles

     Expansion rights (Note 7) 25,082 25,408
     Power sales right (Note 8) 5,028 5,984

30,110 31,392

Other assets
     Due from joint venture partner (Note 9) 16,252 15,268
     Deferred costs (Note 10) 19,084    14,782
     Restricted cash (Note 4) 6,559 6,560

41,895 36,610

$ 470,370 $ 460,952

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Director

Director
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT MARCH 31, 2010
(in thousands)

2010 2009

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

Current liabilities

     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                                           $        2,303 $           4,285
     Dividend payable            - 2,000 
     Interest payable on long term bonds 2,467 2,610
     Current portion of long term bonds (Note 11) 6,781 6,387
     Due to related parties (Note 21)                165 219

11,716 15,501

Deferred revenue 471 595

Long term bonds (Note 11)

     Project bonds 93,180 99,961
     Financing costs  (2,017) (2,339)

91,163 97,622

Equity

     Share capital (Note 13)
     Contributed surplus (Note 14) 276,065 276,065
     Retained earnings 90,955 71,169

367,020 347,234

$ 470,370 $ 460,952

Commitments (Note 16)
Contingencies (Note 17)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
(in thousands)

2010/09 2009/08

REVENUES
     Sale of power                                                                                                                                          $     45,984 $       42,174
     EcoEnergy grant        2,110 2,416
     Transmission facility revenue 1,565 1,537
     Interest and US $ exchange gain 264 2,096
     Management fee        1,643 1,295

51,566 49,518

EXPENSES

     Water rentals 5,545 4,592
     Amortization of capital assets in service 8,287 7,933
     Amortization of rights 1,280 1,288
     Property tax 1,074 1,042
     Operations and maintenance 2,531 2,820
     Administration and management 4,208 4,004
     Insurance 603 587
     Community sponsorship 82 85
     Grants-in-Lieu (Note 18) 461 474
     US $ exchange loss 174              -

     Expensed development costs (Note 10) 37 10
     Restructuring costs - 251

24,282 23,101

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 27,284 26,417

FINANCE CHARGES
     Interest expense 7,177 7,659
     Amortization of deferred debt issue costs 321 331

7,498 7,990

NET INCOME BEFORE CHANNEL REPAIR COSTS 19,786 18,427

CHANNEL REPAIR COSTS           -            (92)

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR                                                                                       $ 19,786 $ 18,335

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RETAINED EARNINGS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
(in thousands)

2010 2009

RETAINED EARNINGS - beginning of year                                                  $     71,169 $         54,834

     Add:                         Net income 19,786 18,335

      Deduct:                   Dividends - (2,000)

RETAINED EARNINGS -  end of year                                                   $ 90,955 $ 71,169

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
(in thousands)

2010 2009

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
 Net income for the year                                                                                                                   $     19,786 $        18,335  
      Adjustments to reconcile cash flow from operations:
      Amortization of capital assets in service 8,287 7,933  
      Amortization of rights 1,280 1,288
      Amortization of financing costs 322 328

      Recoverable channel repair costs and losses (Note 4)   - 6,450 
      Net change in non-cash working capital balances    (276)    (10,200)  

29,385 24,134  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
     Dividends paid (2,000) (2,000)
     Principal repayment of Project Bonds (6,387) (6,015)

(8,387) (8,015)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
     Repayment from joint venture partner (984)       (9,164)
     Deferred costs (4,302) (3,894)
     Additions to Brilliant power facility and terminal station (1,434) (1,459)
     Additions to ALGS power facility (165) (37)
     Additions to Brilliant Expansion (568) (8,667)
     Purchase of furniture, equipment, vehicles and land (431) (2,133)

(7,884) (25,354)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 13,128 (9,235)

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS - beginning of year 37,439 46,674

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS - end of year                                           $         50,567 $         37,439

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:
     Restricted cash and temporary investments 6,559 6,560
     Cash and temporary investments available for operations                                            44,008    30,879

$ 50,567 $ 37,439

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
          Interest paid                                                                                                                              $ 7,314  $ 7,556
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

 
1. Columbia Power Corporation

(a) Structure and Financing

Columbia Power Corporation (CPC) is wholly owned by the Province of British Columbia.  As an 
agent for the Province, CPC is committed to entering into joint ventures to develop hydroelectric 
power projects as set out in the Agreement signed in 1995 (the Agreement) between the Prov-
ince and the Columbia Basin Trust (the Trust), also wholly owned by the Province.  

The Agreement anticipates that several power projects will be undertaken through joint ventures 
between CPC and subsidiaries of the Trust (the Venturers).  The cost of all projects under consid-
eration is expected to exceed $1 billion.  Under the Agreement between the Province and the 
Trust, the Province committed to make $500 million in capital contributions for the purpose of 
funding capital costs of power projects, with the remaining capital costs to be financed through 
joint venture borrowings by CPC and the Trust’s subsidiaries.  

The Venturers each hold a 50% interest in the joint ventures and direct their activities through 
Management Committees with an equal number of members appointed by each Venturer.  All 
decisions of the Management Committees require the unanimous approval of their members.

CPC is appointed the Manager of the joint ventures with the authority to manage the day-to-day 
activities of the joint ventures, subject to the direction of their Management Committees and 
annual capital and operating budgets approved by the committees.    CPC’s material transactions 
and agreements require the approval of the Province’s Treasury Board.

(b) Power Project Planning

In 1996, CPC and CBT Power Corp. (CBT Power), a subsidiary of CBT Energy Inc. (CBT Energy), a 
subsidiary of the Trust, entered into the Power Project Planning Joint Venture (PPPJV) Agree-
ment.  Under this Agreement, the parties formed an unincorporated joint venture, primarily 
for the purpose of assessing and determining the feasibility of power projects pursuant to the 
Agreement between the Province and the Trust.  

The Agreement provides for the Venturers to conduct work on specific power projects up to the 
date that an existing project is acquired, construction has commenced on a new project, or a 
project is no longer feasible or is abandoned.  Prior to a project’s acquisition or commencement of 
construction, approval must be received from the Directors of both CPC and the Trust.  The project 
must also meet financial viability tests consistent with those of a commercial lender.  When a 
project is acquired, or project construction is commenced, the project is transferred to a separate 
joint venture.
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(c) Brilliant Power Facility and Brilliant terminal Station

Brilliant Power Corporation (BPC) is jointly owned, on a 50/50 basis, by CPC and CBT Power. 
The Shareholders direct BPC’s activities through a Management Committee, with an 
equal number of members appointed by each Shareholder. All decisions of the Man-
agement Committee require the unanimous approval of the members.  The purpose of 
the corporation is to operate the Brilliant Power Facility and Brilliant Terminal Station.   

(d) Arrow Lakes Generating Station

Arrow Lakes Power Corporation (ALPC) is jointly owned, on a 50/50 basis, by CPC and CBT 
Arrow Lakes Power Development Corp., (CBT Arrow Lakes), a subsidiary of CBT Energy.  The 
purpose of the corporation is to construct and operate the 185 megawatt (MW) Arrow Lakes 
Generating Station (ALGS) adjacent to the Hugh Keenleyside Dam at Castlegar, British Colum-
bia and a 48 kilometre transmission line from the powerplant to BC Hydro’s Selkirk substation.   

 (e) Brilliant Expansion 
 

Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation (BEPC) is jointly owned, on a 50/50 basis, by CPC 
and CBT Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation, a subsidiary of CBT Energy.  The purpose of 
the corporation is to construct and operate the Brilliant Expansion Project, a 120 MW pow-
er generation development adjacent to the Brilliant Dam at Castlegar, British Columbia.   

(f) Significant Agreements

(i) Entitlement Agreements

Under Entitlement Agreements, British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority (BC Hydro), a Crown 
Corporation of the Province, coordinates the operations of the Brilliant power facility, the Brilliant 
Expansion and ALGS, and receives all of the resulting electrical power.  In return, BC Hydro provides 
BPC, BEPC and ALPC with a fixed amount of capacity and energy from the BC Hydro system.    

(ii) Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement

Under the Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement, FortisBC Inc. (FortisBC), a regulated utility 
operating in British Columbia, will purchase the power under the Brilliant Entitlement, ex-
cluding the portion attributable to the regulated flows through the upgraded turbines.  The 
term of the Agreement is 60 years. 

In the first 30 years, the power will be sold on a "take or pay" basis with the price payable 
by FortisBC composed of an operation and maintenance cost charge and a return on capital 
charge.  In the second 30 years of the contract with FortisBC, there will be an annual market-
related price adjustment.  
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(iii) Facilities interconnection and investment Agreement (FiiA)

FortisBC operates and manages the Brilliant Terminal Station on behalf of BPC.  A Management 
Committee with an equal number of members from BPC and FortisBC must unanimously approve 
all expenditures.  Brilliant Terminal Station operating and capital costs are recovered from FortisBC 
through operations and maintenance and return on capital charges as described in Note 1(f)(ii).  
The term of the Agreement is coincident with the term of the Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement. 

(iv) Powerex Backstop Agreement

This agreement provides for Powerex to purchase the Brilliant entitlement, excluding the 
portion attributable to the regulated flows through the upgraded turbines, if BPC 
terminates the Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement by reason of default by FortisBC. 

(v) Management and Services Agreements

BPC

FortisBC operates and manages the Brilliant Power Facility on behalf of BPC. The management 
fee and other amounts payable under the Agreement form part of the operation and mainte-
nance cost component described under Note 1(f)(ii).

The Brilliant Management Agreement provides for a Management Committee with an equal 
number of members from BPC and FortisBC who must unanimously approve all expenditures.  
The term of the Agreement is coincident with the term of the Brilliant Power Purchase Agree-
ment.

ALPC 

Under a Management Agreement, Fortis Pacific Holdings Inc. (Fortis Pacific - the unregulated 
parent company of FortisBC) operates and manages ALGS on behalf of ALPC.  

BEPC 

Under a Services Agreement, Fortis Pacific Holdings Inc. (Fortis Pacific - the unregulated parent 
company of FortisBC) operates and maintains the Brilliant Expansion on behalf of BEPC.  

(vi) Design-Build Contract - Brilliant Expansion 

In 2003, BEPC entered into a turn-key, design-build contract for approximately $167 million with 
Brilliant Expansion Consortium for the construction of the Brilliant Expansion.  The scheduled 
Final Acceptance Date for the Brilliant Expansion is September 2010 subject to the satisfactory 
resolution of all project deficiencies.
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(vii)  Power Sales Right

In 1997, the Venturers acquired the right and obligation to provide up to 86 average megawatts 
to BC Hydro during the period January 2003 to December 2014.  ALPC uses the Arrow Lakes en-
titlement to meet its obligations under the contract.
 
(viii) Green Power Generation Electricity Purchase Agreement (GPG EPA)

In 2003, BEPC entered into the GPG EPA with BC Hydro obtaining the right and obligation to 
provide 23.12 average annual megawatts from the Brilliant Expansion to BC Hydro for a 20 year 
period starting with commercial operation of the Brilliant Expansion.

(ix) Electricity Purchase Agreement 2006 (EPA 2006)

In 2006, BEPC entered into the EPA 2006 with BC Hydro obtaining the right and obligation to provide 
25.75 average annual megawatts from the Brilliant Expansion to BC Hydro for a 20 year period start-
ing not later than February 1, 2010.  Power sales under the agreement commenced in August 2009. 

(x) Confirmation of Sale of Unit Commitment Service ( onfirm )

Upon commencement of commercial operation of the Brilliant Expansion under the Confirm, 
regulated upgrades energy is sold from Brilliant Power Corporation to Brilliant Expansion Power 
Corporation, on a market basis.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian gen-
erally accepted accounting principles and include the following significant accounting policies:

(a) Consolidated Financial Statements

These consolidated financial statements and notes include CPC’s operations and interests in 
PPPJV, BPC, BEPC and ALPC.  The joint ventures are consolidated using the proportionate consoli-
dation method, whereby CPC’s accounts are combined on a line-by-line basis with its proportion-
ate share (in this case 50%) of the joint ventures’ assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash 
flows.  Intercompany balances and transactions between CPC and the joint ventures have been 
eliminated. 
 

(b) temporary investments

Temporary investments are recorded at market value.  
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(c) Capitalization and Amortization

Capital assets are recorded at cost and are amortized annually at rates calculated to expense the 
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.  Amortization begins when assets are placed into 
service.  The corporation includes, as part of the costs of its fixed assets, interest charges incurred 
during construction.

(i) Brilliant Power Facility and Brilliant terminal Station

Capital assets are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected 
useful lives.  The expected useful lives of capital assets, in years, are:

Power facility   40 - 80
Terminal station     30 - 60

The estimates for asset life-spans are consistent with industry norms.

 (ii) Arrow Lakes Generating Station 

Capital assets are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected 
useful lives.  The expected useful lives, in years, are:

Field and office equipment     5
Power facility   40 - 80
Transmission     30 - 50

The estimates for asset life-spans are consistent with industry norms. 

(iii) Brilliant Expansion

Capital assets are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected use-
ful lives.  The expected useful lives of capital assets, in years, are:

Power facility   40 - 80

The estimates for asset life-spans are consistent with industry norms.

(iv) CPC Offices and Equipment

Computer systems  - straight line over 3 years
Office furniture and equipment - straight line over 5 years
Leasehold improvements  - straight line over term of lease
Vehicles    - straight line over 8 years
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 (d) Deferral of Power Project Costs

Costs incurred in determining the feasibility of acquiring power projects or undertaking prelimi-
nary development work on power projects and construction expenditures are deferred.  Deferred 
power project costs include all costs attributable to a project as well as capitalized interest and 
taxes.

When a project is acquired or construction commences, the related deferred costs of that project 
form part of its capital cost.  When a project is abandoned, the costs deferred for that project are 
expensed.  When a project’s costs exceed those likely to be recovered, the excess is expensed.

(e) Financing Costs

Expenditures incurred in issuing the Series A, B and C Brilliant Project Bonds and Series A 
Arrow Lakes Project Bonds are recorded with the Bonds and amortized using the effective 
interest method.

(f) ecoEnergy Grants

The ecoEnergy for Renewable Power is a program operated by the Government of Canada to 
invest in Canada’s supply of clean energy.  The ecoEnergy Program provides Brilliant Expansion 
Power Corporation a grant of $10.00 per megawatt-hour of eligible production.  The ecoEnergy 
grant earned through eligible production in 2008/09 and 2009/10 is recorded as revenue.

 (g) Revenue Recognition

FortisBC is the purchaser of all power received under the Brilliant Entitlement, except for 
the regulated upgrades, and has the right to the shared use of the Brilliant terminal station.  
Revenues are recognized when operating and maintenance costs are incurred and as 
the return on capital is earned in accordance with the Brilliant Power Purchase Agree-
ment (Note 1(f)(ii)) and FIIA (Note 1(f)(iii)).  Regulated upgrade revenues, rev-
enues from the Brilliant Expansion and ALGS revenues are recognized when entitle-
ments are delivered. Deferred revenue arises in BPC when prepaid expenses cannot be 
recognized as revenue under the Brilliant Power Purchase Agreement until expensed. 

(h) Financial instruments

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles require financial instruments be classified as 
one of the following: held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-for-trading, available for sale 
or other financial liabilities.  CPC designated its financial instruments as follows:

Cash and temporary investments include deposits in banks and short-term money market 
instruments.  They are classified as held-for-trading and measured at fair value and all gains 
and losses are included in the Statement of Income in the period in which they occur.  Fair value 
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is an estimate of the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties under no compulsion to act.  CPC invests 
funds with the British Columbia Investment Management Corporation and has funds in the ST2 
pooled investment portfolio that holds Canadian money market investments maturing within 
15 months.

Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are measured at amortized cost.  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and project bonds are classified as other financial liabili-
ties and are also measured at amortized cost.

CPC’s financial instruments and their carrying values compared to their fair values are as follows:

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approxi-
mate their carrying values due to the short term maturity of these instruments.

Since CPC has classified Long-term bonds as  "Other Financial Liabilities,"  CPC has measured 
these at amortized cost using the effective interest method as required under CICA Handbook 
Section 3855.

(i) Asset Retirement Obligations

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles require CPC to determine the fair value of the 
future expenditures required to settle legal obligations to remove capital assets on retirement.  If 
a reasonable estimate can be determined, a liability is recognized equal to the present value of 
the estimated future removal costs, and an equivalent amount is capitalized as an inherent cost 
of the associated capital asset.

Some of CPC’s assets may have asset retirement obligations.  As CPC expects to use the majority 
of its assets for an indefinite period, no removal date can be determined and, consequently, an 
estimate of the fair value of any asset retirement obligation has not been made at this time.

(j) taxes

CPC is exempt from corporate income taxes.

(k) Foreign Currency translation

Foreign currency denominated revenues and expenses are translated into Canadian dollars at 
the rate of exchange in effect at the transaction date.  Foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in the determination of net 
income.
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(l) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted ac-
counting principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Items requiring the use 
of significant estimates include amortization of capital assets and rights.  Actual results could 
differ from these estimates.

(m)  Changes in accounting policies

Effective April 1, 2009, CPC adopted a new accounting standard for goodwill and intangible as-
sets.  This standard provides more comprehensive guidance on intangible assets, particularly for 
internally developed intangible assets.  The adoption of this new section resulted in the reclas-
sification of the power sales right from Other Assets to Intangibles and had no impact on earn-
ings.

(n) Future accounting pronouncements

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed the decision and 
timeline to adopt globally accepted accounting standards by converging Canadian GAAP with 
IFRS for publicly accountable enterprises. In December 2009, the Public Sector Accounting Board 
(PSAB) amended the introduction to the Public Sector Accounting Handbook confirming that 
government business enterprises are directed to adhere to standards for publicly accountable 
enterprises in the private sector as determined by the AcSB. The AcSB confirmed that the date for 
the first full set of IFRS financial statements will be for fiscal years beginning on or after January 
1, 2011, with comparative figures for the prior year.

CPC has engaged an external advisor and assembled a core project team to assess and evaluate 
IFRS.  Regular reporting is provided to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors. Identification 
of potential differences between IFRS and existing GAAP, as well as detailed assessment of those 
expected differences has been reviewed. CPC will continue with the processes necessary to be 
prepared to comply with PSAB directions.

3. Risk Management and Financial instruments

CPC is exposed to a number of financial risks in the normal course of its operations, including 
market risks resulting from fluctuations in commodity prices, interest rates and foreign currency 
exchange rate risks, as well as credit risks and liquidity risks.  The nature of the risks and CPC’s 
strategy for managing these risks has not changed significantly from the prior period. 

The following discussion is limited to the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instru-
ments, as defined under section 3862 of the CICA Handbook.  
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During 2009, section 3862 was amended to require disclosures about the inputs to fair value  
measurements, including classification within a hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to fair value mea-
surement. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:
Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or li-
ability, either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices); and
Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs.)
CPC considers its fair valued assets, cash and temporary investments, to meet the Level 1 criteria.

 
a)   Credit risk

Credit risks refers to the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss 
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  CPC does not consider itself to be sig-
nificantly exposed to credit risk since its power sales are mainly to BC Hydro and Powerex, both 
Provincial Crown Corporations.  Other power sales are with FortisBC, a regulated utility.  CPC’s 
loan receivable is due from BEPC, a related company jointly owned with CBT, also a Provincial 
Crown Corporation.  

(b)  Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that CPC will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associ-
ated with financial liabilities.  CPC regularly monitors its cash flows and balances and maintains 
a cash surplus which can be utilized by the joint ventures of CPC/CBT for short-term financing.  
CPC does not believe that it will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with 
financial liabilities.

(c)   Market Risks

Market risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and price risk.  CPC does not use derivative products to man-
age these risks. 

i) Exchange rate risk

Exchange rate risk refers to the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  CPC realizes most revenues and all 
significant expenses in Canadian dollars and is therefore not significantly exposed to currency 
fluctuations.  Some of the power sales in Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation joint venture are 
transacted at short-term market prices in US dollars.  Consolidated revenue from these short-
term market sales equaled $2.2 million for 2009/10 (2008/09 - $4.6 million) and is included in 
the ª Sale of power” line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income.  A one cent change in 
the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar represents an impact of approximately $22,000 in 
revenue.

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
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ii)  interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. CPC’s debt is at a fixed interest rate and 
is therefore not exposed to interest rate risk.

iii)  Price risk

Price risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  The majority of CPC’s power sales agreements are 
at long-term fixed rates and are therefore not exposed to price risk.  Some of the power sales in 
Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation joint venture are transacted at short-term market prices 
and are therefore subject to price risk.  Consolidated revenue from these short-term market sales 
equaled $4.6 million for 2009/10 (2008/09 - $4.6 million) and is included in the ª Sale of power” 
line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income.  A one dollar per megawatt-hour change in 
the short-term market price of power represents approximately $40,000 in revenue.

4. Cash and temporary investments

BPC and ALPC must apply the payments they receive from the sales of power as set out under 
agreements with the Project Bondholders.

Under its agreements with Bondholders, BPC has established a debt service reserve fund in which 
it maintains cash or cash equivalents equal to one semi-annual payment on the Series A, B and C 
Brilliant Project Bonds.  BPC also maintains an operating reserve account in an amount equal to 
one-quarter of annual operating expenses.  

BEPC cash includes a US dollar account and a letter of credit account.  The US dollar account is 
for collection of US dollar sales to Powerex.  The letter of credit account secures letters of credit 
issued to BC Hydro for development security under the GPG EPA and 2006 EPA (notes 1(f)(viii) 
and 1(f)(ix)).
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4. Cash and temporary investments (continued)

($ in thousands) 2010 2009

Restricted
Debt service reserve fund   
  Canadian dollar bank account $      3,926 $      3,934
Operating reserve account
  Canadian dollar bank account 1,348 1,341

Letter of credit
  Canadian dollar bank accounts 1,285 1,285

6,559 6,560
Available for operations
  Canadian dollar money market fund 39,920 27,945
  Canadian dollar bank accounts 4,082 2,815
  US dollar bank accounts 6 119

44,008 30,879
$    50,567 $   37,439

5.  Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue

($ in thousands) 2010 2009

Accounts receivable $            3,249 $          5,473
Unbilled revenue 5,196 5,117

$         8,445 $          10,590
 
Accounts receivable consists of CPC’s share of the sale of power revenue receivable in Arrow Lakes 
Power Corporation and Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation, ecoENERGY grant receivable in 
Brilliant Expansion Power Corporation, management fees receivable and recovery of operating 
expenses from the Trust’s share of the joint ventures.   

Unbilled revenue consists of CPC’s share of earned revenue in Brilliant Power Corporation that 
has not yet been billed to FortisBC as of year-end.  The billing occurs semi-annually in May and 
November of each year.     

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
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6. Capital Assets

($ in thousands) Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

NBV 
2010

NBV
2009

Brilliant power facility $107,815 $ 23,254 $ 84,561 $ 85,180
Brilliant terminal station 13,525 2,813 10,712 11,073
Brilliant lands 2,509 - 2,509 2,509
ALPC power facility 137,546 22,053 115,493 118,038
ALPC transmission 10,745 2,639 8,106 8,477
ALPC lands 3,679 - 3,679 3,679
Brilliant Expansion 121,663 5,505 116,158 117,798
Computer systems 1,171 558 613 497
Furniture and equipment 1,064 386 678 715
Leasehold improvements 1,798 702 1,096 1,326
Vehicles 210 155 55 57

$401,724 $ 58,065 $343,660 $349,349

7. Expansion Rights

Expansion rights are recorded at cost and include options to acquire lands near the Waneta and 
Brilliant dams at no additional cost and the right to develop and operate new hydroelectric fa-
cilities on these lands.  The fair value of these rights may differ from cost.  A fair value is not 
readily determinable due to the unique nature of the expansion rights. 

($ in thousands) 2010 2009

Expansion right $           25,925 $             25,925
Less:  Accumulated amortization (843) (517)

$           25,082 $            25,408

8. Power Sales Right

The power sales right is recorded at cost.  Amortization is recorded on the basis of power sold to 
BC Hydro over the year compared to the total power sales under the agreement.  The fair value of 
the power sales right may differ from its cost.  A fair value is not readily determinable due to the 
unique nature and the extended term of the power sales right.  
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8. Power Sales Right (continued)

($ in thousands) 2010 2009

Power sale right $           11,376        $        11,376
Accumulated amortization (6,348) (5,392)

$             5,028 $          5,984

9. Due from Joint Venture Partner

During the year, CPC advanced $11.0 million (2009 - $17.8 million) in cash reserves to BEPC to al-
low the venturers’ equity invested in BEPC to be transferred to PPPJV for development purposes.  
BEPC repaid $9.2 million of the loan during the year.  The loan also includes $554,000 (2009 
- $554,000) of accrued interest recorded during the year.  50% of this related party loan relates 
to the Trust’s share of BEPC and is considered due from CPC’s joint venture partner.  The loan will 
be repaid upon BEPC issuing debt or from future cashflows earned by BEPC.  

10. Deferred Costs

Deferred costs consist of CPC’s share of project development costs related to the Waneta Expan-
sion project.  These are mainly costs related to design engineering, environmental assessment, 
legal, financing, management and overhead items and are carried on the balance sheet based 
on management’s judgment of anticipated future events.  A number of significant estimates 
and qualitative factors are considered by management in determining whether the costs should 
continue to be deferred or instead be expensed.     In 2009/10 $37,000 of development costs were 
considered not recoverable and were expensed (2008/09 - $10,000). 

(a) Deferred Costs Comprise the Following:

($ in thousands) Deferred Costs
at

March 31, 2009
2009 / 10 
Changes

Deferred Costs
at

March 31, 2010
Development costs Waneta
  Expansion (WAX) $        14,782 $          4,302 $       19,082
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(b)  Deferred Costs by Expenditure Category

($ in thousands)
Project

Design &
Construction

Environmental 
Assessment

Socio-
Economic 

Assessment

Finance/
Legal

Analysis
CPC / CBt

Management

total
March 31, 

2010
WAX $6,602 $2,514 $238 $1,782 $7,946 $19,082

(c) Waneta Expansion Project Status

 The Waneta Expansion project is a proposal to install an additional power generation facility  
 with a capacity of 335 megawatts at the existing Waneta dam. The Waneta dam is owned by  
 Teck Resources Ltd. (Teck) (formerly Teck Cominco Metals Ltd.) and BC Hydro. In 1994, CPC 
 purchased from Teck the rights to undertake an expansion. One half of the rights were trans- 
 ferred to CBT in 2000.

 It is projected that construction of the Waneta Expansion project will take place over a four-year  
 period. The project is expected to be financed with a combination of long-term debt and equity.

In November 2009, CBT and CPC announced that the Waneta Expansion project would not be 
proceeding as originally planned, and that both organizations would be exploring alternatives 
with a goal of developing a feasible business model. The final approval of any proposal is re-
quired from the boards of both CBT and CPC, as well as the Province of BC. 

(d) Subsequent Event

During the year, CPC and an unrelated third party were in discussions for the joint investment 
in the Waneta Expansion with CBT. On May 25, 2010, the Province instructed that CPC suspend 
discussions with the unrelated third party to give the Province time to review the proposed joint 
investment arrangement. This review is anticipated to be completed by June 30, 2010, and at 
that time, direction will be provided to CPC on how the Province wishes to proceed. The outcome 
of this review and its impact on deferred costs is uncertain at this time.

11. Long term Bonds 

The Series A, B and C Brilliant Project Bonds are secured on a limited recourse basis by charges 
against the Brilliant power facility including related material contracts, licences, permits, ap-
provals, authorizations and insurance coverages.  

The Bonds are redeemable by BPC in whole or in part at any time before May 31, 2026 at a price 
equal to the greater of the principal amount then outstanding, and a price calculated to provide a 
yield to maturity based on the current yield of a matching duration Government of Canada bond 
plus 0.30%.  

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N
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C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

11. Long term Bonds (continued)

The Series A Arrow Lakes Project Bonds issued on August 28, 2003 are secured on a limited re-
course basis by charges against the ALGS Facility and Transmission assets including related mate-
rial contracts, licences, permits, approvals, authorizations and insurance coverages.  

The Bonds are redeemable by ALPC in whole or in part at any time before March 31, 2015 at a 
price equal to the greater of the principal amount then outstanding, and a price calculated to 
provide a yield to maturity based on the current yield of a matching duration Government of 
Canada bond plus 0.23%. 
($ in thousands) CPC’s Portion of

Principal Outstanding
Series Coupon rate Effective rate Maturity date 2010 2009
BPC  A 8.93% 9.06% May 31, 2026 $39,606 $40,633
BPC  B 6.86% 7.00% May 31, 2026 11,675 12,049
BPC  C 5.67% 6.39% May 31, 2026 21,455 22,224
ALPC A 5.39% 6.27% March 31, 2015 27,224 31,442

99,961 106,348
Current portion (6,781) (6,387)

93,180 99,961
                 Less:  financing costs (2,017) (2,339)

$91,163 $97,622

Principal repayments next five years:
2011 6,781
2012 7,202
2013 7,649
2014 8,125
2015 11,048
Subsequent years 59,156

$99,961

12. Credit Facility

In accordance with its agreements with Bondholders, BPC has secured a $10 million credit facil-
ity with the CIBC, which would rank equally with the Series A, B and C Bonds.  The facility was 
deactivated on April 1, 2005.  Subject to an annual credit review the facility continues to be 
available.
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13. Share Capital

Authorized:
 6 common shares, no par value

Issued:
 6 common shares  $6

14. Contributed Surplus

Contributed surplus represents the contributions made by the Province to permit CPC to purchase 
hydroelectric power expansion rights and to fund power project costs. 

15. Capital Disclosures

CPC’s capital management objectives are to: 
Target a long-term capital structure with sufficient debt to finance the proposed    
Waneta Expansion project;
Finance the debt portion of the capital structure with fixed rate, longer term debt 
approximately matching the term of relevant power sales agreements;
Maintain investment grade credit ratings to support continued access to cost effective 
capital.

CPC’s capital consists of shareholder’s equity plus debt.

($ in thousands) 2010 2009

Debt $            99,961 $          106,348
Shareholder’s equity 367,015 346,970

$         466,976 $          453,318

16. Commitments

(a) Plant Operations 

Under its agreements with Bondholders, BPC and ALPC have committed to keep the Brilliant 
power facility, Brilliant terminal station and the ALGS in good operating condition and to effect 
all necessary repairs and replacements according to the requirements of good industry practice.

(b) ALPC Fish Entrainment Compensation

ALPC has made a commitment to contribute to the Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Compensa-
tion Program to compensate for fish entrainment for as long as fish are entrained in the ALGS.  
In 2009/10 the contribution was $258,000 (2008/09 - $239,000).  This funding will be used for 
fertilizing fish stocks in the Upper and Lower Arrow Reservoirs.
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(c) BEPC Project Approval Certificate

The project approval certificate issued for the Brilliant Expansion by the BC Environmental 
Assessment Office contains a number of commitments during pre-construction, construction, 
post-construction and operations phases which are being actively managed by BEPC.

(d) Letter of intent 

Under a letter of intent with SNC Lavalin, PPPJV has committed to allow SNC Lavalin to perform 
certain preparation work, not to exceed $2.9 million, until August 15, 2010 in the event that 
the Waneta Expansion proceeds.  The letter defines maximum amounts per month and can be 
terminated upon notice to SNC Lavalin.
 

(e) Office Long term Lease Commitment

CPC has entered into operating leases for office premises that provide for minimum annual lease 
payments totaling up to $125,000 per year for the next nine years.  

17. Contingencies

CPC’s operating and development power project activities are affected by federal, provincial and 
local government laws and regulations.  Under its agreements with its Bondholders, BPC and 
ALPC have agreed to comply or cause compliance in all material respects with such laws and 
regulations as well as to maintain all material franchises.  Under current regulations, the Ventur-
ers are required to meet performance standards to minimize or mitigate negative impacts of 
their proposed projects.  The impact, if any, of future legislative or regulatory requirements on 
specific projects and their related deferred costs cannot currently be estimated.

18. Grants-in-Lieu of Property taxes

ALPC and BEPC are exempt from property taxes but pay grants-in-lieu of property taxes to host 
and impacted local governments based on the 185 and 120 megawatt capacities of the ALGS and 
Brilliant Expansion.  In 2009/10 the charge per megawatt was $1,327 (2008/09 - $1,232).  

Columbia Power Corporation was directed by the Province to make payments of the grants-in-
lieu of property taxes to the host and impacted local governments.



COLUMBIA   POWER   CORPORATION          ANNUAL  REPORT       •       2009 / 106�

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

19. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

($ in thousands) 2010 2009
Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable $   2,144 $   (1,120)
Prepaid expense (119) (353)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (1,982) (8,278)
Accounts Payable to Related Parties (54) (288)
Accrued Interest (143) (152)
Deferred Revenue (124) (9)
Other 2 0

$     (276) $ (10,200)

20. Pension Plans

CPC and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan in accordance with the Pub-
lic Sector Pension Plan Act.  The British Columbia Pension Corporation administers the plan, in-
cluding payment of pension benefits to employees to whom the act applies.  The Public Service 
Pension Plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.  Under joint trusteeship, the 
risk and reward associated with the Plan’s unfunded liability or surplus is shared between the 
employers and the plan members and will be reflected in future contributions.  The most recent 
actuarial valuation (March 31, 2008) determined the Plan had a surplus.  Despite the surplus, the  
Public Service Pension Board of Trustees was required to implement a contribution rate increase 
of 0.15% each, for plan members and employers to meet the funding requirements of the Pen-
sion Benefits Standards Act.  The increases went into effect April 1, 2009.  Contributions to the 
Plan by CPC in 2009/10 were $346,000 (2008/09 - $336,000).

Employees of CPC are eligible for the same post retirement healthcare benefits as other mem-
bers of the Public Service Pension Plan.  No provision, other than CPC’s required employer pen-
sion contributions, has been made in the accounts of CPC for this liability.  

CPC maintains an executive pension benefit plan (EPBP).  Pension payments from the EPBP com-
menced in January 2006 upon retirement of CPC’s former President.  CPC valued the pension 
liability at March 31, 2010 as $201,000 (2009 - $211,000) on a discounted cash flow basis.

21. Related Party transactions

CPC is related through common ownership to its joint ventures with the Columbia Basin Trust.  
CPC is also related through indirect common ownership to all Province of British Columbia min-
istries, agencies, Crown Corporations and public sector organizations that are included in the 
provincial government reporting entity.  
These consolidated financial statements include amounts receivable from, amounts payable to 
and transactions with BC Hydro and its affiliates; the Trust and its affiliates; and the Province. 



COLUMBIA   POWER   CORPORATION          ANNUAL  REPORT       •       2009 / 10 6�

C O L U M B I A  P O W E R  C O R P O R A T I O N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

21. Related Party transactions (continued)

Other than the Trust, which charges the joint ventures on a cost recovery basis, all related party 
transactions are at market rates.

(a) Due from and sales to related parties 

2010 2009
($ in thousands) Due from 

Related Party
Sales to 

Related Party
Due from 

Related Party
Sales to 

Related Party
BC Hydro $    114 $27,399 $      81 $22,036
Powerex 1,354 2,132 518 5,448
Joint ventures 648 - 1,498 -

$2,116 $29,531 $2,097 $27,484

The Due from Related Party amount of $2,116,000 at March 31, 2010 (2009 - $2,097,000) is 
included in the "Accounts receivable" line item in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The due from 
Joint ventures amount of $648,000 at March 31, 2010 (2009 - $1,498,000) relates to recover-
ies of administration and management costs and also to management fee revenues, and is not 
related to sales.  The Sales to Related Party amounts from BC Hydro and Powerex of $27,399,000 
and $2,132,000 for 2009/10 (2008/09 - $22,036,000 and $5,448,000) are included in the Sale of 
Power line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income.  

(b)  Due to and purchases from related parties

2010 2009
($ in thousands) Due to 

Related Party
Purchases

from 
Related Party

Due to
Related Party

Purchases 
from

Related Party
Province $     1 $6,770 $      1 $5,931
Trust and affiliates 164 936 211 989
BC Hydro - 132 7 139
Powerex - 45 - 47
BC Transmission Corp. - 69 - 59

$165 $7,952 $219 $7,165

Purchases from the Province of $6,770,000 for 2009/10 (2008/09 - $5,931,000) are included in 
the  "Water rental" expense line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income and "Prepaid 
expenses and deposits' line item in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The purchases from CBT 
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(b)  Due to and purchases from related parties (continued)

and affiliates of $936,000 for 2009/10 (2008/09 - $989,000) are included in the  "Administration 
and management" line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income and the "Capital assets" 
line item in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.   

22. Comparative Figures

Certain 2009 figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
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Glossary

Benchmarking
A measured,  "best-in-class" achievement that is used as a reference or measurement standard for com-
parison and is recognized as the standard of excellence for a specific business process.

Bond rating
A rating assigned to bonds based on the probability of the issuing firm’s default. Those bonds with the 
lowest default probability have the highest rating and generally carry the lowest interest rates.

Canal Plant Agreement
An agreement between BC Hydro, FortisBC Inc., Teck, Brilliant Power Corporation, Brilliant Expansion 
Power Corporation and Waneta Expansion Power Corporation that provides for the coordination of hydro 
facilities on the lower Kootenay and Pend d’Oreille Rivers.

Capacity
The maximum power that a generating station can supply, usually expressed in megawatts.

Columbia River treaty
An agreement ratified by the United States and Canada in 1964, which led to the construction of three 
storage dams in the Columbia River Basin (Duncan, Keenleyside and Mica) and another one in Montana 
(Libby). The purpose of these dams was flood control and power production in both countries.

Comptroller of Water Rights
The statutory decision-maker under the Water Act, responsible for water licenses and the safety of water-
retaining structures.

Debt service coverage ratio
Earnings before interest, depreciation and taxes, divided by debt service payments (debt principal and 
interest payments) during the year.

Debt-to-equity ratio
Ratio of money borrowed to money invested in the capital structure of a firm.

Design-build contract
A contract between the owner and a contractor / consortium for the design, construction and commis-
sioning of a power project, in accordance with the owner’s technical specifications.

Downstream benefits
The extra power that could be generated at United States power plants on the Columbia River that results 
from the operation of Columbia River Treaty storage dams located in Canada. Under the Columbia River 
Treaty signed in 1964, the Province of British Columbia owns one-half of this incremental power, called 
"Canadian Entitlement to the Downstream Benefits."  The Province sold the first 30 years of these ben-
efits to a group of United States utilities for US $254 million. The money helped pay for the construction 
of the three Treaty dams in Canada.
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Energy entitlement ratio
The ratio of a project’s actual energy entitlements to maximum entitlements.

Entitlement agreement
An agreement to include a hydro project in the larger hydro system for the purposes of optimizing system 
power generation, whereby the project owner receives a fixed amount of power.

Environmental approval
Approval under the British Columbia Environmental Assessment Act (BCEAA) and the Canadian Environmen-
tal Assessment Act (CEAA), following environmental review and consultation with government agencies, 
First Nations and the general public. Once BCEAA and CEAA approval is obtained, further permits, licenses 
and approvals must be acquired from federal, provincial and municipal authorities under applicable en-
vironmental legislation for the various aspects of the construction and/or operation of hydroelectric proj-
ects and associated transmission lines.

Environmental management system
The part of the overall management system that includes organizational structures, planning activities, 
responsibilities, practices, procedures, processes and resources for developing, implementing, achieving, 
reviewing and maintaining the environmental policy.

Final acceptance date
The date on which the owner’s consultant certifies that everything required to be performed or done by 
the design-build contractor under the contract has been completed, subject only to warranties under the 
contract that continue past final acceptance.

First quartile
Measured performance within the top 25% of a study, group or class.

Green power
Power and associated green rights produced from generating facilities that meet specific low environ-
mental impact and social responsibility criteria.

investment grade credit rating
A credit (bond) rating sufficiently high to be considered worthy of low-risk institutional investors such as 
pension funds.

iSO 14001 standard
The international standard for environmental management, introduced by the International Standards 
Organization (ISO) in 1996 and updated in 2004.

Limited-recourse project debt
Debt that limits the security available to debt holders in the event of default to only those assets of the 
debt issuer. The debt is not guaranteed by another party.
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Megawatt-hour (MWH)
Equal to 1,000 kilowatt-hours. An average household in British Columbia uses about 10,000 KWH (10 
MWH) of electricity per year.

Megawatt (MW)
1 million watts; 1,000 kilowatts. A unit commonly used to measure both the capacity of generating sta-
tions and the rate at which energy can be delivered.

Operation, maintenance and administration (OMA)
The cost of operating and maintaining power plants, along with the related administration costs. OMA 
does not include amortization, taxes, interest or insurance.

Public-private partnership
A cooperative venture for the provision of infrastructure or services, built on the expertise of each part-
ner, and designed to best meet clearly defined public needs through the most appropriate allocation of 
resources, risks and rewards. In a public-private partnership, the public sector maintains an oversight and 
quality assessment role, while the private sector focuses on actual delivery of the service or project.

Return on investment
Income available to shareholders as a percentage of their investment.

Water rental
A royalty collected by the Province of British Columbia for the use of water.
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